## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

# **SCHEDULE 14A**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )

File	ed by the Registrant ⊠
File	ed by a Party other than the Registrant $\square$
Ch	eck the appropriate box:
	Preliminary Proxy Statement Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2)) Definitive Proxy Statement Definitive Additional Materials Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12
	(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
	(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)
Pay	ment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):
$\boxtimes$	No fee required.
	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
	<ol> <li>Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:</li> <li>Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:</li> <li>Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):</li> <li>Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:</li> <li>Total fee paid:</li> </ol>
	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
	<ol> <li>Amount Previously Paid:</li> <li>Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:</li> <li>Filing Party:</li> <li>Date Filed:</li> </ol>



October 30, 2013

Dear FactSet Stockholder:

You are cordially invited to attend the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of FactSet Research Systems Inc., which will be held at our corporate headquarters at 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851 on Tuesday, December 17, 2013, at 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time. I look forward to seeing you at the meeting.

Details of the business to be conducted at the Annual Meeting are given in the attached Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement. In addition to the specific matters to be acted upon, there will be a report on the progress of FactSet and an opportunity for questions of general interest to the stockholders.

Your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the meeting in person, you are requested to complete, sign, date, and promptly return the enclosed proxy card in the envelope provided. Your proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with your instructions. If you do not specify a choice on one of the proposals described in this proxy statement, your proxy will be voted as recommended by the Board of Directors. If you hold your shares through an account with a brokerage firm or other nominee or fiduciary such as a bank, please follow the instructions you receive from such brokerage firm or other nominee or fiduciary to vote your shares.

If you plan to attend the meeting in person, please respond affirmatively to the request for that information by marking the box on the proxy card. You will be asked to present valid picture identification. Cameras, recording devices, and other electronic devices will not be permitted at the meeting.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express our appreciation for your continued support and loyalty.

Sincerely,

Philip A. Hadley

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

# FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC. NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS December 17, 2013

3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time

#### Dear Stockholder:

The 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of FactSet Research Systems Inc. ("FactSet" or the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, will be held at the Company's corporate headquarters at 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, on Tuesday, December 17, 2013, at 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect two directors to the Board of Directors, each for a three-year term.
- 2. To ratify the appointment of the accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014.
- 3. To approve, by non-binding vote, the compensation of the Company's named executive officers.
- 4. To approve an amendment to the Company's By-laws to require majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections.

To act upon such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.

These items are more fully described in the following pages, which are made part of this notice. Only stockholders of record at the close of business on October 21, 2013 are entitled notice of, and to vote at, this meeting.

The Company is pleased to take advantage of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") rules again this year that allow FactSet to furnish these proxy materials, including its Annual Report on Form 10-K, to stockholders on the Internet. The Company believes that posting these materials on the Internet expedites stockholders' receipt of the information that they need, while lowering the costs of printing and delivery and reducing the environmental impact of its Annual Meeting. The Company mailed to its stockholders of record and beneficial owners the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access these proxy materials, including FactSet's Annual Report on Form 10-K, on the Internet, as well as how to vote by Internet and mail.

To request and receive a free paper copy of the Proxy materials, please call <u>1-866-641-4276</u>, or you may request a paper copy by email at investorvote@computershare.com, or by logging onto <u>www.edocumentview.com/FDS</u>. If you have Internet access, FactSet encourages you to record your vote on the Internet. It is convenient and saves on printing costs.

As a stockholder of FactSet, your vote is important. Whether or not you plan to attend the annual meeting in person, it is important that you vote as soon as possible to ensure that your shares are represented.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Rachel R. Stern

Senior Vice President, Strategic Resources, General Counsel and Secretary

Norwalk, Connecticut

October 30, 2013

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
General Instructions	1
Annual Meeting and Voting Information	2
Corporate Governance	
Board Leadership Structure	5
Business Experience and Qualifications of Board Members	5
Director Independence	8
Legal Proceedings	8
Board Responsibilities, Meetings and Committees	8
Additional Corporate Governance Information	10
Director Compensation Program	10
Director Summary Compensation Table	11
Director Nominations	12
Proposal 1: Election of Directors	13
Audit Committee Report	13
Proposal 2: Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	14
Executive Compensation	
Executive Officers	16
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	17
Compensation Committee Report	24
Summary Compensation Table	25
Grants of Plan-Based Awards	26
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End	28
Option Exercises and Stock Vested	30
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation	30
Pension Benefits	30
Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control	30
Proposal 3: Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation	32
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	32
Equity Compensation Plan Information	35
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	35
Other Matters	
Proposal 4: Approve the Amendment to the Company By-laws	36
Proposals of Stockholders, Delivery of Documents and Other Business	37



#### PROXY STATEMENT FOR ANNUAL MEETING

#### **Purpose of Meeting**

The Board of Directors of FactSet Research Systems Inc. ("FactSet" or the "Company") delivers this Proxy Statement and voting instructions, in connection with the solicitation of proxies which will be voted at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of FactSet (the "Meeting"). The Meeting will be held at 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time on Tuesday, December 17, 2013, at 601 Merritt 7 Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, and any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purposes set forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Proxy Statement was made available to FactSet's stockholders on October 30, 2013. The specific proposals to be considered and acted upon at the Meeting are summarized in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Each proposal is described in more detail in this Proxy Statement.

#### **Record Date and Share Ownership**

The only outstanding voting security of FactSet is its common stock, \$0.01 par value per share. Stockholders of record at the close of business on October 21, 2013 will be entitled to vote at the Meeting on the basis of one vote for each share of FactSet common stock held. On October 21, 2013, there were 43,105,237 shares of FactSet common stock outstanding.

#### **Submitting and Revoking Your Proxy**

If you complete and submit your proxy, the persons named as proxies will follow your instructions. If you submit a proxy card but do not fill out the voting instructions on the proxy card, the persons named as proxies will vote your shares as follows:

- 1. To elect two directors to the Board of Directors, each for a three-year term.
- 2. To ratify the appointment of the accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014.
- 3. To approve, by non-binding vote, the compensation of the Company's named executive officers.
- 4. To approve an amendment to the Company's By-laws to require majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections.

In addition, if other matters are properly presented for voting at the Meeting, the persons named as proxies will vote on such matters in accordance with their best judgment. FactSet has not received notice of other matters that may be properly presented for vote at the Meeting. Your stockholder vote is important. Stockholders of record may vote their proxies by Internet, telephone or mail. Stockholders who execute proxies may revoke them at any time before they are exercised by written notice to the Secretary of the Company at or prior to the Meeting by timely delivery of a valid, later-dated proxy or by voting by ballot at the Meeting. The cost of the solicitation of proxies will be borne by FactSet.

#### **Expenses of Solicitation**

FactSet will bear the entire cost of preparing, printing and mailing this Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders and Proxy Statement, the enclosed proxy card, the Company's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K and any additional solicitation material that FactSet may provide to stockholders which is estimated at approximately \$150,000. The solicitation of proxies will be conducted primarily by mail, but may also include telephone, facsimile or oral communications by directors, officers or regular employees of the Company acting without special compensation. If you hold your shares through a bank, broker or other holder of record and share a single address and same last name with another stockholder, you may have received notice that only one Proxy Statement and Annual Report will be sent to your address unless you instructed the holder of record to the contrary. This practice, known as "householding", reduces multiple mailings to your household and also reduces the Company's printing and postage costs. If you have any questions or wish to receive additional copies of FactSet's Proxy Statement or Annual Report, please contact the Company's Investor Relations Department at 1-203-810-1000. The mailing address is <a href="https://investor.factset.com">https://investor.factset.com</a>.

#### Availability of FactSet's Annual Report on Form 10-K

FactSet will mail upon written request and without charge, a copy of the Company's Fiscal 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the consolidated financial statements, schedule and list of exhibits. Requests should be sent to: FactSet Research Systems Inc., 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, Attn: Investor Relations. The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K is also available at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a>.

#### 2013 ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING INFORMATION

#### Why am I receiving these proxy materials?

The Board of Directors of the Company is asking for your proxy for use at the Annual Meeting of the Company, to be held at its corporate headquarters at 601 Merritt 7 Norwalk, Connecticut 06851 on Tuesday, December 17, 2013 at 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time, and at any adjournment or postponement of the Meeting. As a stockholder, you are invited to attend the Meeting and are entitled to and requested to vote on the items of business described in this proxy statement.

#### What is a proxy?

A proxy is another person you authorize to vote on your behalf. FactSet asks stockholders to instruct the proxy how to vote so that all common shares may be voted at the Meeting even if the holders do not attend the Meeting.

#### Who is soliciting my vote?

The Board of Directors of the Company is soliciting your vote.

#### When were the enclosed solicitation materials first given to stockholders?

FactSet initially mailed to stockholders of the Company the proxy statement, proxy card and notice on November 6, 2013.

#### What is the purpose of the Meeting?

You will be voting:

- To elect two directors to the Board of Directors, each for a three-year term;
- To ratify the appointment of the accounting firm of Ernst & Young LLP as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014;
- To approve, by non-binding vote, the compensation of the Company's executive compensation; and
- To approve an amendment to the Company's By-laws to require majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections.
- To act upon such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the Annual Meeting.

#### What are the Board of Director's recommendations?

The Board recommends a vote:

- "FOR" the election of the director nominees named in this proxy statement;
- "FOR" the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as FactSet's independent registered accounting firm for the year ended August 31, 2014:
- "FOR" the approval of the fiscal 2013 compensation awarded to the Company's named executive officers; and
- *"FOR"* the approval of the amendment to the Company's By-laws.

#### How do I vote?

For stockholders whose shares are registered in their own names, as an alternative to voting in person at the Annual Meeting, you may vote via the Internet, by telephone or, for those stockholders who receive a paper proxy card in the mail, by mailing a completed proxy card. For those stockholders who receive a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, it provides information on how to access your proxy card, which contains instructions on how to vote via the Internet or by telephone. For those stockholders who receive a paper proxy card, instructions for voting via the Internet or by telephone are set forth on the proxy card. Those stockholders who receive a paper proxy card and voting instructions by mail, and who elect to vote by mail, should sign and return the mailed proxy card in the prepaid and addressed envelope that was enclosed with the proxy materials, and your shares will be voted at the Annual Meeting in the manner you direct. If your proxy card is properly completed and received, and if it is not revoked, before the Meeting, your shares will be voted at the Meeting according to the instructions indicated on your proxy card. In the event that you return a signed proxy card on which no directions are specified, your shares will be voted **FOR** the election of each of the director nominees listed (Proposal 1), **FOR** the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014 (Proposal 2), **FOR** the approval of the fiscal 2013 compensation awarded to the Company's named executive officers (Proposal 3) and **FOR** the approval of the amendment to the Company's By-laws to require majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections (Proposal 4). To the Company's knowledge, no other matters will be presented at the Meeting. However, if any other matters of business are properly presented, the proxy holders named on the proxy card are authorized to vote the shares represented by prox

If your shares are held in a brokerage account, you should receive instructions from your record holder that must be followed in order for your record holder to vote your shares per your instructions. Many banks and brokerage firms have a process for their beneficial holders to provide instructions via the Internet or over the telephone. If Internet or telephone voting is unavailable from your bank or brokerage firm, please complete and return the enclosed voting instruction card. If you are the beneficial owner of shares held in "street name" and you do not give instructions as to how to vote, your broker may have authority to vote your shares on certain discretionary items, but not other, non-discretionary items, as determined by the New York Stock Exchange. The ratification of the Company's independent registered public accounting firm (Proposal 2) is a discretionary item; however proposal 1 (election of directors), proposal 3 (approval of compensation) and proposal 4 (amendment to the Company's By-laws) are considered non-discretionary items and thus brokers are not permitted to vote your shares in these matters unless you provide instructions to your broker on how to vote your shares.

#### How many votes does it take to pass each matter?

If a quorum is present at the meeting, the approval of each proposal requires the number of votes described below:

- The two nominees for election as directors of the Company who receive the highest number of "FOR" votes cast at the meeting (either in person or by proxy) will be elected as directors. This is referred to as "plurality" approval. If proposal 4 regarding the amendment to the Company's By-laws is approved at the 2013 annual meeting, then majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections will be followed in 2014. For example, beginning in 2014 each director will be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to such director. A majority of the votes cast means that the number of votes cast "for" a director exceeds the number of votes cast "against" that director. In the event that the number of nominees exceeds the number of directors to be elected, each director will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast in such a contested election. If a director is not elected in an uncontested election, the director shall submit his or her offer of resignation for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee within 90 days from the date of the election and that Committee will consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances and recommend to the Board the action to be taken with respect to such offer of resignation in determining whether to accept such offer.
- The ratification of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended August 31, 2014 requires that a majority of the votes cast at the meeting (either in person or by proxy) be voted "FOR" this proposal.
- The approval of a resolution approving the compensation of FactSet's named executive officers as disclosed in this proxy statement is an advisory vote; however, the Company values the opinions of its stockholders and will take into account the outcome of this vote in considering future compensation arrangements.
- The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of FactSet common stock present or represented by proxy and voting at the annual meeting, together with the affirmative vote of a majority of the required quorum, is required "for approval of proposal 4. If you own shares through a bank, broker or other holder of record, you must instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record, how to vote in order for your vote to be counted on this proposal.

#### Who is entitled to vote at the Meeting and how many votes do they have?

Only holders of record of FactSet common stock at the close of business on October 21, 2013 will be entitled to vote at the Meeting. Each share has one vote.

#### Who can attend the Meeting?

All stockholders as of October 21, 2013, or their duly appointed proxies, may attend the Meeting. In order to be admitted to the Meeting, a stockholder must own Company stock on the Record Date. If your shares are held in the name of a broker, bank, custodian, nominee, or other record holder ("street name"), you must obtain a proxy, executed in your favor, from the holder of record (that is, your broker, bank, custodian, or nominee) to be able to vote at the Meeting.

#### What is a quorum of stockholders?

If a majority of the shares outstanding and entitled to vote on the Record Date are present, either in person or by proxy, the Company will have a quorum at the Meeting. Any shares represented by proxies that are marked for, against, withhold, or abstain from voting on a proposal will be counted as present in determining whether there is a quorum. If a broker, bank, custodian, nominee, or other record holder of the Company's common stock indicates on a proxy card that it does not have discretionary authority to vote certain shares on a particular matter, and if it has not received instructions from the beneficial owners of such shares as to how to vote on such matters, the shares held by that record holder will not be voted on such matter (referred to as "broker non-votes") but will be counted as present for purposes of determining whether there is a quorum. Since there were 43,105,237 shares of common stock outstanding on October 21, 2013, the presence of holders of 21,552,619 shares is a quorum. FactSet must have a quorum to conduct the Meeting.

#### **Vote Tabulation**

The appointed inspector of elections from Computershare will tabulate votes cast by proxy or in person at the Meeting. If you abstain from voting on any or all proposals you will be included in the number of stockholders present at the Meeting for the purposes of determining the presence of a quorum.

#### What are broker non-votes?

If you hold shares beneficially in street name and do not provide your broker with voting instructions, your shares may constitute broker non-votes. Broker non-votes occur on a matter when a broker is not permitted to vote on that matter without instructions from the beneficial owner and instructions are not given. These matters are referred to as non-discretionary matters.

#### How are abstentions and broker non-votes treated?

Abstentions and broker non-votes count for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum. Abstentions and broker non-votes have no effect on the determination of whether a nominee or any of the proposals has received the vote of a majority of the shares of common stock present or represented by proxy and voting at the meeting. However, abstentions and broker non-votes could prevent the approval of a proposal where the number of affirmative votes, though a majority of the votes represented and cast, does not constitute a majority of the required quorum.

#### What does it mean if I receive more than one proxy card or instruction form?

If you receive more than one proxy card or instruction form, it means that you have multiple accounts with FactSet's transfer agent and/or a broker or other nominee or fiduciary or you may hold your shares in different ways or in multiple names (*e.g.*, joint tenancy, trusts, and custodial accounts). Please vote all of your shares.

#### How do I revoke my proxy and change my vote prior to the Meeting?

If you submit the enclosed proxy card, you may change your vote at any time before voting takes place at the Meeting. You may change your vote in one of four ways: (1) You may deliver to the Secretary of FactSet Research Systems Inc., Rachel Stern, 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, a written notice dated later than the proxy you want to revoke, stating that the proxy is revoked, (2) you may complete and send in another proxy card or voting instruction form with a later date, (3) you may attend the Meeting and vote in person, or (4) for shares you hold beneficially or in street name, you may change your vote by submitting a later dated voting instruction form to your broker or other nominee or fiduciary, or if you obtained a legal proxy form giving you the right to vote your shares, by attending the Meeting and voting in person.

Why did I receive a one-page notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials instead of a full set of printed proxy materials? Pursuant to the notice and access rules adopted by the SEC, the Company is making this Proxy Statement and its Annual Report on Form 10-K available to its stockholders over the Internet. As a result, unless you have previously requested electronic access to FactSet's proxy materials or the receipt of paper proxy materials, you will receive a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access this Proxy Statement and Annual

materials, you will receive a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access this Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K over the Internet, how to request a printed or e-mail copy of these materials and how to vote by Internet and mail. The Company will mail the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials on or about November 6, 2013. The Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials is not a proxy card and cannot be used to vote your shares. In addition, if you are voting online, you will be prompted to consent to receiving proxy materials electronically in future years. Choosing to receive your future proxy materials electronically will save the Company the cost of printing and mailing documents to you and will reduce the impact of its annual meetings on the environment. If you choose to receive future proxy materials electronically, you will receive an e-mail next year with instructions containing a link to those materials and a link to the proxy voting site. Your election to receive proxy materials electronically will remain in effect until you terminate it.

## What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?

Most FactSet stockholders hold their shares as a beneficial owner through a broker or other nominee rather than directly in their own name. As summarized below, there are some distinctions between shares held of record and those owned beneficially.

**Stockholder of Record** - If your shares are registered directly in your name with the Company's transfer agent, Computershare Shareowner Services, you are considered, with respect to those shares, the *stockholder of record*, and the Notice was sent directly to you by FactSet. As the *stockholder of record*, you have the right to grant your voting proxy directly to FactSet or to vote in person at the Annual Meeting. If you requested to receive printed proxy materials, FactSet has enclosed or sent a proxy card for you to use. You may also vote on the internet or by telephone.

**Beneficial Owner** - If your shares are held in an account at a brokerage firm, bank, broker-dealer, trust, or other similar organization, like the vast majority of the Company's stockholders, you are considered the *beneficial owner* of shares held *in street name*, and the Notice was forwarded to you by that organization. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker, bank, trustee, or nominee how to vote your shares, and you are also invited to attend the Annual Meeting. Since a beneficial owner is not the *stockholder of record*, you may not vote your shares in person unless you obtain a "legal proxy" from the broker, bank, trustee, or nominee that holds your shares giving you the right to vote the shares at the meeting.

#### **CORPORATE GOVERNANCE**

#### **Board Leadership Structure**

The Board believes that the Company's stockholders are best served if the Board retains the flexibility to adapt its leadership structure to applicable facts and circumstances, which necessarily change over time. Accordingly, the Company's Corporate Governance Principles provide that the Board may combine or separate the roles of the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, as it deems advisable. The Board of Directors believe that Philip Hadley's service as both Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer is in the best interest of FactSet and its stockholders. Mr. Hadley possesses detailed and in-depth knowledge of the issues, opportunities and challenges facing FactSet, and is thus best positioned to develop agendas that ensure that the Board's time and attention are focused on the most critical matters. His combined role enables decisive leadership, ensures clear accountability and enhances the Company's ability to communicate its message and strategy clearly and consistently to FactSet's stockholders, employees, clients and users.

The Company's current certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide that the Chairman of the Board of Directors may be an employee or officer of FactSet. On September 5, 2000, FactSet's Board of Directors unanimously appointed Philip Hadley as Chairman of the Board of Directors.

Each of the directors other than Philip Hadley and Michael DiChristina, are independent (see "Director Independence"), and the Board believes that the independent directors provide effective oversight of management. In addition, on September 19, 2005, the Board of Directors appointed James J. McGonigle as the Company's Lead Independent Director. As Lead Independent Director, Mr. McGonigle's responsibilities include:

- Coordinating and moderating executive sessions of the Board of Directors' independent directors.
- Advising the Chairman of the Board of Directors as to the quality, quantity, and timeliness of the flow of information from management that is necessary for the independent directors to effectively and responsibly perform their duties.
- Confirming the agenda with the Chief Executive Officer for meetings of the Board of Directors.
- Holding regular update sessions with the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
- Acting as the principal liaison between the independent directors and the Chairman of the Board of Directors on sensitive issues.
- Performing such other duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time delegate to the Lead Independent Director to assist the Board of Directors in the fulfillment of its responsibilities.

The Board believes that these responsibilities appropriately and effectively complement FactSet's combined Chairman/Chief Executive Officer structure. Although the Board currently believes that the combination of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles is appropriate in the current circumstances, FactSet's Corporate Governance Guidelines do not establish this approach as a policy.

# **Business Experience and Qualifications of Board Members**

The following discussion presents information about the persons who comprise FactSet's Board of Directors, including the two nominees for election.

**Robin A. Abrams, Director.** Ms. Abrams, age 62, has served on the Board since 2011 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Ms. Abrams is a private investor who currently serves as a member of the board of directors of HCL Technologies Ltd., a global offshore IT and software development company, Sierra Wireless, Inc., a leader in the design and delivery of customized connected lifestyle devices and services and Lattice Semiconductor Corporation, the source for innovative FPGA, PLD, programmable Power Manager and Clock Management solutions. In addition, Ms. Abrams serves on the board of trustees for the Anita Borg Institute for Women and Technology. From August 2006 to January 2007, Ms. Abrams served as Interim CEO of ZILOG, Inc., a provider of integrated microcontroller products, where she also served as a director from 2004 to 2010. From July 2004 to July 2006, she served as Chief Executive Officer of Firefly Communications, Inc., a company with a range of mobile products that address the youth market. From September 2003 to July 2004, Ms. Abrams was President of Accenture's Connection to eBay unit, a company which provides mid- and large-sized retailers, manufacturers and distributors with a cost effective channel for selling large volumes of inventory, where she also served as a consultant from May 2003 to September 2003. From May 2001 to January 2003, Ms. Abrams served as President and Chief Executive Officer of BlueKite, a leading provider of bandwidth optimization software for wireless operators. In addition to leading several start-ups, Ms. Abrams was president and CEO of Palm Computing, Inc., where she launched the Palm V and Palm VII. Prior to Palm, she was President and CEO of VeriFone, the global leader in debit/credit card authorization solutions. Ms. Abrams also held key executive positions at Apple. As managing director of Apple Asia, she helped open the Chinese and Indian markets to Apple products, and subsequently became president of Apple Americas. Previously, Ms. Abrams held senior product marketing positions at Norwest Bank (Wells Fargo) and Unisys as well as served on the board of directors of Unwired Planet, Inc. (formerly known as Openwave Systems, Inc.), a global software innovator delivering all-Internet protocol mediation and messaging solutions from January 2008 to August 2013. She received her BA in political science and history and her JD from the University of Nebraska. Her current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2014.

Ms. Abrams brings to the Board a wealth of experience at technology companies, which FactSet hopes to leverage to enhance its own development processes. She has seen how several highly successful technology companies stay ahead of the competition through properly planning their product development strategy. Her previous experiences as an executive officer at several technology companies makes Ms. Abrams an important resource for the Board as it assesses financial and strategic decisions.

Scott A. Billeadeau, Director. Mr. Billeadeau, age 52, has served on the Board since 2001 and is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He is a business consultant and former Managing Director of Small-cap and Mid-cap Growth Strategies at Fifth Third Asset Management ("Fifth Third"). Prior to working at Fifth Third between March 2003 and October 2012, Mr. Billeadeau was a Principal, Founder and Senior Portfolio Manager with Paladin Investment Associates, LLC ("Paladin"). He spent eight years managing over \$2 billion in small-cap and mid-cap assets for Bank of America and Nations Bank before co-founding Paladin in December 2000. Mr. Billeadeau began his career in 1985 with American Express Financial Advisers, previously IDS Financial Services, Inc., where he was a quantitative analyst. Mr. Billeadeau received a B.A. in Economics from Princeton University and has earned the right to use the Chartered Financial Analyst designation and is a member of the CFA Institute. His current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2015.

Mr. Billeadeau provides to the Board of Directors expertise in corporate finance, accounting and strategy, including experience gained as the Managing Director of Fifth Third, a public company and Paladin. Through this experience, he has developed expertise in several valued areas including strategic development, business development and finance. Mr. Billeadeau also brings a background in organizational leadership and management, and experience serving as a director for two privately-held companies. His experience in the financial industry has provided him experience as an outside board member and audit committee member.

*Michael F. DiChristina, Director*. Mr. DiChristina, age 51, has served on the Board since 2000. He joined FactSet in 1986 as a Software Engineer and held the position of Director of Software Engineering from 1990 to 1999. In 2000, Mr. DiChristina assumed the role of President and Chief Operating Officer until stepping down on October 1, 2009. He continues to be a FactSet employee and serves on the Company's Board of Directors. Prior to joining FactSet, Mr. DiChristina was a Software Engineer at Morgan Stanley & Co. Mr. DiChristina received a B.S. in Electrical Engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. His current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2014.

Mr. DiChristina has leadership and management experience as the President and Chief Operating Officer of FactSet from September 2000 to October 2009. His management and operational expertise is accompanied by engineering industry background and technology acumen. Mr. DiChristina brings to the Board of Directors skill in the development of information technology combined with software engineering. His background in software engineering is complemented by his knowledge of FactSet, its financial position and its industry, which he developed in part through his service as FactSet's President and Chief Operating Officer.

Philip A. Hadley, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and Director. Mr. Hadley, age 51, has served on the Board since 2000 and was named Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of FactSet on September 5, 2000. Mr. Hadley joined FactSet in 1985 as a Consultant. From 1986 to 1989, Mr. Hadley was the Company's Vice President, Sales. From 1989 to 2000, Mr. Hadley was Senior Vice President and Director of Sales and Marketing with FactSet. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hadley was employed by Cargill Corporation. He currently serves as a member of the board of advisors of Kum & Go. Mr. Hadley received a B.B.A. in Accounting from the University of Iowa and has earned the right to use the Chartered Financial Analyst designation and is a member of the CFA Institute. His current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2015.

Mr. Hadley has led FactSet since September 2000. Since his appointment as Chief Executive Officer, FactSet's annual revenues have grown from \$134 million in fiscal 2000 to \$858 million in fiscal 2013. As Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Hadley brings to the Board of Directors his thorough knowledge of FactSet's business, strategy, people, operations, competition and financial position. He provides recognized executive leadership and vision. In addition, Mr. Hadley brings with him a global network of client and industry relationships.

Joseph E. Laird, Jr., Director. Mr. Laird, age 68, is nominated for a three-year term, which would expire in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2016. He is the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and has served on the Board since 1993. He serves as Managing Director of Petsky Prunier LLC. From 1999 to 2009, he served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Laird Squared LLC, an investment banking company that he formed in January 1999, exclusively to serve the database information services industry. From 1989 to 1999, Mr. Laird was a Managing Director of Veronis, Suhler & Associates, a leading specialty merchant bank that serves the media and information industries. From 1982 to 1989, he was an institutional equity salesman and a senior securities analyst of database information services for Hambrecht & Quist. From 1975 to 1982, Mr. Laird was an institutional equity salesman and investment strategist for PaineWebber Mitchell Hutchins.

Mr. Laird brings to the Board of Directors leadership experience, including service as the Chief Executive Officer of an investment banking company. This role has required industry knowledge combined with operational and management expertise. Mr. Laird also has experience as an outside director for two separate public companies in the past twelve years.

James J. McGonigle, Director. Mr. McGonigle, age 50, is nominated for a three-year term, which would expire in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2016. He has served on the Board since 2002, is the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and is a member of the Compensation Committee. On September 19, 2005, he was named the Lead Independent Director. Mr. McGonigle serves as an adjunct professor at Georgetown University and was the former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Corporate Executive Board Company ("CEB"). Mr. McGonigle was a special advisor to the Board of CEB between January 2008 and May 2009. He served as the Director and non-Executive Chairman of the Board of CEB from July 2005 until January 2008. From July 1998 until July 2005, Mr. McGonigle served as CEB's Chief Executive Officer. From October 1997 until July 1998, Mr. McGonigle was CEB's General Manager, and from 1995 until October 1997, he was the General Manager of the corporate division of The Advisory Board Company. From 1990 to 1995, Mr. McGonigle was a consultant in the Financial Institutions Group at McKinsey & Company, an independent consulting firm. Mr. McGonigle received a B.A. from the Woodrow Wilson School at Princeton University and a J.D. from Harvard Law School.

Mr. McGonigle brings to the Board of Directors leadership experience, including service as the Chief Executive Officer of a public company for over seven years. This role required industry knowledge combined with operational and management expertise. In addition, Mr. McGonigle brings to the Board of Directors market and corporate governance insights from his experience as an outside public company board member.

Walter F. Siebecker, Director. Mr. Siebecker, age 72, has served on the Board since 1997 and is a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee. Mr. Siebecker serves as President of Burgess Consulting LLC with a background in retail and institutional investment services in the domestic and global markets. He is currently a Director of qval, Inc., a provider of data management solutions and valuation services to global investors of both privately held and publicly traded companies. Mr. Siebecker is a former member of the Board of Directors of Smith Barney Inc. and the National Securities Clearing Corporation. During his time with Smith Barney, he served on the Board of the Securities Industry Association-Operations Division and its various committees and served for a year as its President. The directorship of each of these firms include memberships on their Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Governance committees. Mr. Siebecker received a B.B.A in Finance & Investments from the Zicklin School of Business at Baruch College. His current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2014.

With his many years of experience leading banking and financial services companies, Mr. Siebecker contributes financial management and strategy expertise. Mr. Siebecker has leadership experience, including service as an outside board member of companies in retail and institutional investment services in the domestic and global markets. He provides valuable market perspective as current President of a consulting firm in the industry as well as expertise in finance, strategy and operations. His employment in the financial industry has provided him experience as an outside board member and audit committee member.

Charles J. Snyder, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director. Mr. Snyder, age 71, has been a Director of FactSet since its formation in 1978 and is a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Prior to the 2013 Annual Meeting, Mr. Snyder presented the Company's Board of Directors with his resignation letter, which indicated he will resign from the Board when his current term expires on December 17, 2013 (the date of the 2013 Annual Meeting). He is a co-founder of FactSet and retired as President and Chief Technology Officer of the Company on August 31, 1999. At that time he became Vice Chairman of the Board and agreed to continue as a consultant for three years to FactSet's engineering and technology groups. In conjunction with FactSet's announcement of Howard Wille's retirement as Chief Executive Officer of FactSet effective May 22, 2000, Mr. Snyder was named FactSet's interim Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Snyder acted as interim Chief Executive Officer of FactSet until September 5, 2000, at which time Philip A. Hadley was named Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. From 1964 to 1977, Mr. Snyder worked for Faulkner, Dawkins & Sullivan, Inc., eventually becoming Director of Computer Research, a position he retained with Shearson Hayden Stone, Inc. after its acquisition of Faulkner, Dawkins & Sullivan, Inc. in 1977.

As a co-founder of FactSet, Mr. Snyder contributes a financial and technology development background. He brings to the Board of Directors strategy and leadership skills from his experience as a public company executive. Mr. Snyder's roles at FactSet required industry expertise combined with operational and global management expertise.

Joseph R. Zimmel, Director. Mr. Zimmel, age 60, a member of the Audit Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, has served on the Board since 2007. He is a financial consultant and retired Managing Director of Goldman, Sachs & Co. From December 2001 until November 2002, Mr. Zimmel served as an Advisory Director to the Goldman Sachs Group. In the investment banking division at Goldman, Sachs & Co., Mr. Zimmel held the position of Managing Director of the Communications, Media & Entertainment Group for the Americas from 1999 to 2001, after acting as a Managing Director and a co-head of the group from 1992 to 1999. In addition to his appointment to FactSet's Board of Directors, Mr. Zimmel serves as a member of the Board of Directors of Century Link, Inc. His current Board term expires in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders in 2015.

Mr. Zimmel's background in finance and advisory roles is complemented by his knowledge of FactSet and its industry. His contributions are augmented by his experience serving as an outside director of a public company and multiple private companies. In addition, Mr. Zimmel's employment at Goldman, Sachs & Co., including service in senior leadership positions, brings a valued perspective to the Board of Directors and to the Audit Committee.

#### **Director Independence**

Mr. McGonigle serves as the Lead Independent Director and Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. He presides over executive sessions of the non-management Directors. The independent Directors, who constitute seven of the nine members, thus a majority of the Directors of the Company, meet at least four times annually after the end of each scheduled quarterly meeting of the Board of Directors. On October 24, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors reviewed the independence of its Directors under the applicable standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the NASDAQ Stock Market ("NASDAQ"). Each Director, other than Messrs. Hadley and DiChristina, qualifies as "independent" in accordance with those published listing requirements. In determining that each individual who served as a member of the Board in 2013 (other than Messrs. Hadley and DiChristina) is or was independent, the Board considered that, in the ordinary course of business, transactions may occur between the Company and entities with which some of our directors are affiliated. The Board unanimously determined that the relationships discussed below were not material. No unusual discounts or terms were extended.

#### **Legal Proceedings**

Over the past ten years, no Director or nominee has been involved in:

- Legal proceedings, such as SEC securities fraud enforcement actions against any Director or nominee;
- Judicial or administrative proceedings resulting from involvement in mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business activity;
- Judicial or administrative proceedings based on violations of federal or state securities, commodities, banking or insurance laws and regulations, or any settlement to such actions; and
- Disciplinary sanctions or orders imposed by a stock, commodities, or derivatives exchange or other self-regulatory organization.

#### **Board Responsibilities**

FactSet's Board of Directors has adopted corporate governance guidelines which help govern the Company. You can access these corporate governance guidelines, along with each of its Board Committee charters, at the Corporate Governance Highlights page of the Investor Relations section of the Company's website at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a> or request a free copy by contacting Investor Relations at FactSet Research Systems Inc., 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851. Directors are expected to attend regularly and participate in meetings of the Board and of committees on which the Director serves. The Company does not have a policy with regard to Directors' attendance at annual stockholder meetings. The Company's Board of Directors met five times during fiscal 2013, four of which were regularly scheduled quarterly meetings.

#### **Board Meetings**

FactSet's Board of Directors is comprised of nine members, seven of whom are independent directors. The Company's Board of Directors has the following three standing committees: (1) an Audit Committee, (2) a Compensation Committee and (3) a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Each of the committees operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. All of the committee charters are available on FactSet's website at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a>. The Board delegates various responsibilities and authority to different Board Committees. Committees regularly report on their activities and actions to the full Board. All Directors attended 100% of the regular meetings of the Board and at least 75% of other meetings of the full Board. All Directors who served on committees of the Board attended 75% or more of the meetings of the committees on which they served during fiscal 2013.

#### **Board Committees**

The following table identifies the committee members as of October 30, 2013.

		Committee Name	
			Nominating and
Independent Directors	Audit	Compensation	Corporate Governance
Robin A. Abrams	Member		Member
Scott A. Billeadeau*	Chairperson		
Joseph E. Laird, Jr.		Chairperson	
James J. McGonigle**		Member	Chairperson
Walter F. Siebecker	Member	Member	
Charles J. Snyder***			Member
Joseph R. Zimmel	Member		Member

<sup>\*</sup> Financial Expert

**Audit Committee.** The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight review of FactSet's internal and external financial reporting processes. Its primary responsibilities include: meeting with financial management and the independent auditors to review FactSet's system of internal controls; assessing the quality of FactSet's accounting principles and financial reporting; reviewing the external audit process as conducted by FactSet's independent auditors; reviewing the financial information provided to stockholders and other external parties; and preparing the report of the Audit Committee included in the definitive proxy statement on a yearly basis. The Board has determined that Mr. Billeadeau qualifies as the "audit committee financial expert" as defined in Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Board has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee is independent under the standards of the New York Stock Exchange and NASDAQ and has sufficient knowledge in reading and understanding the Company's financial statements to serve on the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met five times during fiscal 2013.

Under the Audit and Non-Audit Service Pre-Approval Policy adopted by the Audit Committee, all audit and non-audit services to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company require pre-approval by the Audit Committee. In some cases, pre-approval relates to audit or non-audit services that fall within certain established categories and budgets, and in other cases a particular defined task or scope of work may be pre-approved subject to a specific budget. Pre-approvals may be granted by either the full Audit Committee or, by any member of the Audit Committee pursuant to delegated authority. Any pre-approvals by an Audit Committee member pursuant to this delegated authority shall be reported to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting. The Audit Committee may not delegate pre-approval authority to management.

Compensation Committee. The primary responsibilities of the Compensation Committee are to review and approve the compensation policies for the Chief Executive Officer and other key executive officers of the Company, oversee the Company's administration of its equity-based compensation policies, approve grants of share-based awards to officers and employees of the Company under its option plans, establish annual performance goals for the Company's principal executive officers and assess the quality of the performance of those executive officers. No fees were paid to compensation consultants by FactSet because no consulting services were provided to the Board or Compensation Committee related to executive or Director compensation during fiscal 2013. The Compensation Committee met three times during fiscal 2013.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reviews the qualifications of candidates for nomination as Directors, makes recommendations to the Board regarding prospective nominees to the Board, issues recommendations to the Board regarding corporate governance issues and, as appropriate, assists in succession planning for senior management of FactSet. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider nominees recommended by security holders in written communications to FactSet's Secretary. Nominees for the Board of Directors should be committed to enhancing long-term shareholder value and must possess a high level of personal and professional ethics, sound business judgment and integrity. The Board of Directors is composed of a diverse group of leaders. The Board of Directors encourages selection of Directors who will contribute to FactSet's overall corporate goals: responsibility to its stockholders, technology leadership, effective execution, high client satisfaction and superior employee working environment. The Nomination and Governance Committee from time to time reviews the appropriate skills and characteristics required of board members, including factors that it seeks in board members such as diversity of business experience, viewpoints, personal background and diversity of skills in finance, technology, marketing, international business, financial reporting and other areas that are expected to contribute to an effective Board of Directors. In evaluating potential candidates for the Board of Directors, the Nomination and Governance Committee considers these factors in the light of the specific needs of the Board at that time. The description of each nominee set forth in the "Business Experience and Qualification of Board Members" section above includes the primary individual experience, qualifications, attributes and skills of each of the Company's Directors that led to the conclusion that each director should serve as a member of the Bo

<sup>\*\*</sup> Lead Independent Director

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> As noted earlier, prior to the 2013 Annual Meeting, Mr. Snyder presented the Company's Board of Directors with his resignation letter, which indicated he will resign from the Board (including the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee) when his current term expires on December 17, 2013 (the date of the 2013 Annual Meeting).

#### **Additional Corporate Governance Information**

FactSet is committed to maintaining the highest standards of business conduct and corporate governance, which the Company believes are essential to running its business efficiently, serving its stockholders well and maintaining integrity in the marketplace.

Code of Business Conduct. The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of the Company's employees, including the Company's principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, all other officers and the Company's Directors. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on the Company's website at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a> on the Corporate Governance Highlights page of the Investor section. You may also request a copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by writing to Investor Relations, FactSet Research Systems Inc., 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851. Any amendment to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (other than technical, administrative or non-substantive amendments) and any waiver of a provision of the Code that applies to a member of FactSet's Board or one of its executive officers will be promptly disclosed on the Corporate Governance Highlights page of the Investor section of its website.

Contacting the Board. Stockholders and other interested parties may contact the Board, the Lead Independent Director or non-management Directors as a group by sending their correspondence to: Board of Directors (or other appropriate group), c/o Corporate Secretary, FactSet Research Systems Inc., 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851; facsimile number: 1-203-810-1001; email address: Board@factset.com. The Corporate Secretary will review all communications and forward them to the Chairman of the Board or the Lead Independent Director, as appropriate. The Corporate Secretary may, however, filter out communications that do not relate to the Company's business activities, operations or its public disclosures, but will maintain a record of these communications and make them available to the Chairman of the Board or the Lead Independent Director (solicitations will not be recorded or forwarded). Any communications received by the Chairman of the Board or Lead Independent Director regarding concerns relating to accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters will be immediately brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and will be handled in accordance with the procedures established by the Audit Committee to address these matters.

#### **Director Compensation Program**

The general policy of the Board is that compensation for independent directors should be a mix of cash and equity-based compensation. FactSet does not pay management directors for Board service in addition to their regular employee compensation. The Compensation Committee, which consists solely of independent directors, has the primary responsibility for reviewing and considering any revisions to director compensation. The Board reviews the committee's recommendations and determines the amount of director compensation. Each non-employee Director is provided access to FactSet, at no charge, which allows them to utilize the Company's suite of products and services.

For fiscal 2013, Director compensation consisted of:

#### Cash Compensation.

- A \$25,000 annual retainer paid quarterly.
- An additional \$2,500 annual retainer to each chairman of a Board Committee.
- An additional \$2,500 annual retainer to each Audit Committee member.

#### **Equity Compensation.**

The Non-Employee Directors' Stock Option Plan (the "Directors' Plan") provides for the grant of share-based awards, including stock options, to non-employee directors of FactSet. The Directors' Plan provides for annual equity grants for each non-employee Director and greater flexibility to change the vesting schedule per option grant, modify the number of options granted on an annual basis and adjust the term of the grants.

#### **Annual Grant**

Under the Directors' Plan, the Compensation Committee may award an annual equity grant to each non-employee Director on or around January 15<sup>th</sup> of each year having an intended value of \$65,000. The number of option shares to be granted in order to deliver this value will be determined on grant date using an option-pricing model. As such, the Compensation Committee recommended and the Board approved an annual equity grant of 2,683 non-qualified stock options to seven non-employee Directors on January 15, 2013. The strike price was \$91.06 per share, being equal to the closing price of the Company's common stock on that date. The grant date fair value of this option grant was \$455,000 or \$65,000 per Director. The non-qualified stock options granted to Directors vest ratably at 20% per year over five years upon the anniversary date of each grant and expire seven years from the date the options were granted.

#### New Director One-Time Grant

New Directors may receive a one-time option grant, typically on or around January 15<sup>th</sup> after the new Director's first annual meeting. There were no new directors during fiscal 2013, thus no one-time grants.

#### Expenses.

The Company pays or reimburses Directors for travel, lodging and related expenses incurred in connection with attending Board, Committee and stockholder meetings and other Company business related events. From time to time, the Company may reimburse a Director's expenses for his participation in third party-supplied continuing education related to the Director's Board or Committee service.

#### **Director Summary Compensation Table**

The following table provides information as to compensation for services of the non-employee Directors during fiscal 2013.

									Change in			
								Pe	nsion Value			
									and Non-			
									Qualified			
	Fee	es Earned				N	on-Equity		Deferred			
	(	or Paid in	Stock		Option	Ince	ntive Plan	Co	mpensation		All Other	
Name		Cash	Awards	F	Awards <sup>(1)</sup>	Con	npensation		Earnings	Co	ompensation	 Total
Robin A. Abrams <sup>(2)</sup>	\$	26,875	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 91,875
Scott A. Billeadeau	\$	30,000	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 95,000
Joseph E. Laird, Jr.	\$	27,500	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 92,500
James J. McGonigle	\$	27,500	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 92,500
Walter F. Siebecker	\$	27,500	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 92,500
Charles J. Snyder	\$	25,000	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 90,000
Joseph R. Zimmel	\$	27,500	\$ 	\$	65,000	\$		\$		\$		\$ 92,500

- (1) The amounts in the Option Awards column represent the aggregate grant date fair values, computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, *Share-Based Payment*, ("ASC Topic 718"), of stock option awards issued during fiscal 2013 pursuant to the Directors' Plan. For information on the valuation assumptions with respect to stock option grants, refer to the notes to the consolidated financial statements contained in FactSet's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K. There can be no assurance that these grant date fair values will be realized by the non-employee Directors. The actual gain that a non-employee Director may receive from exercising an option sometime in the future may be higher or lower than these reported amounts, and these options have value only if the price of the Company's stock increases above the option's exercise price. On January 15, 2013, FactSet granted 18,781 stock options to the Company's non-employee Directors. The strike price was \$91.06 per share, being 100% of the NYSE closing price of the Company's common stock on that date. The grant date fair value of the option grants was \$455,000. At August 31, 2013, the non-employee Directors had the following outstanding stock option awards, some of which were not fully or partially vested: Robin A. Abrams, 7,927 options; Scott A. Billeadeau, 34,124 options; Joseph E. Laird, Jr., 38,624 options; James J. McGonigle, 38,624 options; Walter F. Siebecker, 34,124 options; Charles J. Snyder, 25,124 options; and Joseph R. Zimmel, 11,872 options.
- (2) The Board of Directors of the Company appointed Ms. Abrams to the Audit Committee, effective for the Company's second quarter of fiscal 2013. As such, she received 75% of the \$2,500 Audit Committee member annual retainer during 2013.

*NOTE:* Effective October 1, 2009, Michael F. DiChristina stepped down from his position as President and Chief Operating Officer of FactSet. He has been with FactSet since 1986 and will continue to serve on FactSet's Board of Directors as an employee of the Company. As an employee of FactSet, Mr. DiChristina was paid total compensation of \$116,815 in fiscal 2013. During each of the past three fiscal years, he did not receive compensation for his Board service. As of August 31, 2013, Mr. DiChristina had 2,710 stock options outstanding, of which 2,404 were exercisable. The weighted average exercise price of his stock options exercisable was \$55.79, for a total in-the-money value of \$111,925 at August 31, 2013.

#### **Director Nominations**

The Company has a standing Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. A copy of the charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may be found on the Company's website at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a> on the Corporate Governance Highlights page of the Investor section. The members of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are independent under the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and the NASDAQ Stock Market.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider director nominees recommended by stockholders in written communications to FactSet's Secretary prior to August 1 for the ensuing election. Any such communication must follow the guidelines set forth in the FactSet Research Systems Inc. Director Nominee Selection Policy, a copy of which may be found on the Corporate Governance Highlights page of the Investor section of the Company's website. The policy lists selection criteria including integrity, professionalism and sound business judgment. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider any nominee recommended by a stockholder in accordance with its policy under the same criteria as any other potential nominee.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will select nominees for directors pursuant to the following process:

- Identification of director candidates by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee based upon suggestions from directors and senior management, recommendations by stockholders and potentially a director search firm.
- Review of each candidate's qualifications by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee to determine which candidates best meets the Board's required and desired criteria. The review of the nominee's qualifications includes capabilities, availability to serve, conflicts of interest and other relevant factors. The Committee shall search for individuals as nominees with the highest personal and professional integrity, who shall have demonstrated strong ability and judgment and who shall be effective in serving the long-term interest of stockholders.
- Interviews of an interested candidate by the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, at least one other committee member and the Chief Executive Officer.
- Report to the Board by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on the selection process.
- Recommendation by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of a nominee to the Board.
- Formal nomination of the candidate by the Board for inclusion in the slate of directors for the annual meeting of stockholders or appointment by the Board to fill a vacancy between stockholder meetings.

For candidates proposed to it, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee requires: (i) the candidate's full name, address, email and phone number; (ii) a verbal statement by the candidate that he or she wishes to be nominated and is willing and able to serve as a director; (iii) a verbal statement of the good faith belief by the proposing stockholder that the candidate meets the Company's criteria, and (iv) such other written documentation as the Committee may request to permit a determination by the Board as to whether such candidate meets the required and desired director selection criteria set forth in the FactSet Bylaws, Corporate Governance Guidelines and the FactSet Research Systems Inc. Director Nominee Selection Policy, available on the Company's website.

#### **Proposal 1: Election of Directors**

Stockholders will elect two directors at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Two directors will hold office for a term not exceeding three years or until a successor is elected and qualified. Your proxy will be voted in favor of those persons to serve as directors, unless you indicate to the contrary on the proxy.

Management expects that the nominees will be available for election. However, if a nominee is not a candidate when the election occurs, your proxy will be voted to elect another nominee to be designated by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Board") to fill any vacancy. Business experience and qualifications on these nominees and the other members of the Board of Directors is presented in this Proxy Statement under the caption "Business Experience and Qualification of Board Members."

*Vote Required:* The two nominees for election as directors of the Company who receive the highest number of "FOR" votes cast at the meeting (either in person or by proxy) will be elected as directors. This is referred to as "plurality" approval. If proposal 4 regarding the amendment to the Company's By-laws is approved at the 2013 annual meeting, then majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections will be followed in 2014.

FactSet's Board recommends that Joseph E. Laird, Jr. and James J. McGonigle each be elected to serve a three-year term expiring in concurrence with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders for fiscal year 2016.

#### AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board of Directors has charged the Audit Committee with a number of responsibilities, including review of the adequacy of FactSet's financial reporting, accounting systems and controls. The Board has reviewed independence for audit committee members as defined in both the New York Stock Exchange and NASDAQ and has determined that each member of the Audit Committee met each listing's standard. The Audit Committee has a direct line of communication with FactSet's independent public accountants.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are set forth in its Charter which is available on the Company's website at <a href="http://investor.factset.com">http://investor.factset.com</a>. In fulfilling its responsibility, the Audit Committee discusses with the Company's independent public auditors the overall scope and specific plans for their audit. The Audit Committee has reviewed FactSet's audited consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2013 with management and with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Such review included discussions concerning the quality of accounting principles as applied and significant judgments affecting FactSet's consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Audit Committee has discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP matters such as the quality and acceptability of FactSet's accounting principles as applied in its financial reporting, as required by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, *Professional Standards*, Volume 1, AU Section 380), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") in Rule 3200T. Lastly, the Audit Committee has received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP concerning such auditors' independence from FactSet and has discussed with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP its independence, as required by the PCAOB.

The Audit Committee has the authority and responsibility to select, compensate, evaluate and, when appropriate, replace FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm. In the first quarter of fiscal 2014 the Audit Committee selected Ernst & Young to replace PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as FactSet's independent registered accounting firm beginning with the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014. Refer to Proposal 2, *Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm*, for a more complete description of this matter. The Audit Committee may engage its own outside advisors, including experts in particular areas of accounting, as it determines appropriate.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions conducted with management and the independent public auditors, the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors and the Board has approved the inclusion of the audited consolidated financial statements for fiscal year ended August 31, 2013 in FactSet's 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K, for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

SUBMITTED BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Scott A. Billeadeau, Chairman Robin A. Abrams Walter F. Siebecker Joseph R. Zimmel

#### Proposal 2: Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

During fiscal 2013 the Audit Committee solicited proposals from several audit firms to serve as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm for the upcoming fiscal 2014 year. The Audit Committee conducted this review in keeping with its responsibility to regularly evaluate the independent registered public accounting firm's performance and to conduct a periodic competitive review as a matter of best practices. On October 30, 2013, the Audit Committee selected Ernst & Young LLP to replace PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm beginning with the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014.

The Board of Directors is submitting the appointment of Ernst & Young as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm to stockholders for ratification. If the appointment of Ernst & Young is not ratified by stockholders at the 2013 Annual Meeting, the Audit Committee will review its appointment of Ernst & Young as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm.

PricewaterhouseCoopers performed the audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2013 and was dismissed as the independent registered public accounting firm upon completion of the audit on October 30, 2013. During the Company's fiscal years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 and through October 30, 2013, FactSet had no disagreements with PricewaterhouseCoopers on any matter of accounting principle or practice, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure which, if not resolved to PricewaterhouseCoopers' satisfaction, would have caused it to make reference to the matter in conjunction with its report on the Company's consolidated financial statements for the relevant year; and during that same period there were no reportable events as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of SEC Regulation S-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers' audit reports on FactSet's consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 did not contain an adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion, nor were they qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

During the Company's fiscal years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 and through October 30, 2013, neither the Company, nor anyone on its behalf, consulted with Ernst & Young with respect to either (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company's consolidated financial statements, and no written report or oral advice was provided by Ernst & Young to FactSet that Ernst & Young concluded was an important factor considered in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue or (ii) any matter that was the subject of either a disagreement (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of SEC Regulation S-K) or a reportable event (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of SEC Regulation S-K).

A representative from Ernst & Young will attend the 2013 Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate questions and make a statement should they desire to do so. The agreed upon fiscal 2014 Ernst & Young audit fees are expected to be competitive with current market rates.

#### Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm's Fees and Services

The aggregate fees billed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in connection with audit and non-audit services rendered for fiscal 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

	2013	2012
Audit fees (1)	\$ 543,631	\$ 491,369
Audit-related fees (2)	-	-
Tax fees (3)	277,325	117,866
All other fees (4)	2,700	2,700
Total	\$ 823,656	\$ 611,935

- (1) Represents fees for professional services rendered for the integrated audit of FactSet's annual consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting, for review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and for services that are normally provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
- (2) Represents fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of FactSet's consolidated financial statements and are not reported under "Audit Fees."
- (3) Tax fees were for services related to tax consulting and planning services.
- (4) All other fees represent fees for services provided to FactSet which are otherwise not included in the categories above. These fees primarily consist of licensing accounting research software.

#### Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. These services may include audit services, audit-related services, tax services and other services. Pre-approval is detailed as to the particular service or category of services and is generally subject to a specific budget. The independent registered public accounting firm and management are required to report periodically to the Audit Committee regarding the extent of services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with this pre-approval, and the fees for the services performed to date. The Audit Committee may also pre-approve particular services on a case-by-case basis.

The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of non-audit services by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during fiscal 2013 and 2012 was compatible with maintaining the independence of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. During 2013 and 2012, all professional services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were pre-approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with this policy.

#### **Audit Partner and Audit Firm Rotation**

The Audit Committee's policy is that the audit engagement partner should rotate off the Company's account no less frequently than every five years. With respect to audit firm rotation, the Audit Committee believes that it is inappropriate to establish a fixed limit on the tenure of the independent auditor. Continuity and the resulting in-depth knowledge of the Company strengthen the audit. Moreover, the mandatory partner rotation policy expressed above, normal turnover of audit personnel, the Audit Committee's policy regarding the hiring of auditor personnel and the Audit Committee's practices restricting non-audit engagements of the independent auditor, all mitigate against any loss of objectivity that theoretically could arise from a long-term relationship. As provided in the Audit Committee's Charter and as further described below, the Audit Committee regularly evaluates its independent registered public accounting firm. Based on this evaluation, the Audit Committee selected Ernst & Young LLP to replace PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as FactSet's independent registered public accounting firm beginning with the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014.

The Audit Committee will periodically consider alternatives to ensure that the Audit Committee and the Company's stockholders are receiving the best audit services available.

#### **Auditor Independence**

As noted in the Audit Committee Charter and in the Audit Committee Report, the independent auditor reports directly to the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee is charged with evaluating its independence.

FactSet's Board recommends that you vote to ratify the Audit Committee's selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2014.

#### **EXECUTIVE OFFICERS**

The following table shows the Company's executive officers at August 31, 2013:

			Officer
Name of Officer	<u>Age</u>	Office Held with the Company	<u>Since</u>
Philip A. Hadley	51	Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer	2000
Peter G. Walsh	48	Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer	2005
Michael D. Frankenfield	48	Executive Vice President, Director of Global Sales	2001
Maurizio Nicolelli	45	Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer	2009
Kieran M. Kennedy	48	Senior Vice President, Director of Sales Operations	2002

Philip A. Hadley's business experience is listed above in the section titled "Corporate Governance."

**Peter G. Walsh, Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer.** Mr. Walsh joined the Company in 1996 as Vice President, Planning and Control within the Company's Finance group. Mr. Walsh held the position of Vice President, Director of Finance from 1999 until 2001. From late 2001 to February 2005, Mr. Walsh occupied the position of Vice President, Regional Sales Manager of the U.S. Southeast Region. On March 1, 2005 he assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. On October 1, 2009, Mr. Walsh was promoted to his current position as the Company's Chief Operating Officer, where he is responsible for product development, content collection and software and systems engineering. Prior to joining FactSet, Mr. Walsh held several positions at Arthur Anderson & Co. Mr. Walsh received a B.S. in Accounting from Fairfield University. He has earned the right to use the Chartered Financial Analyst designation and is a member of the CFA Institute.

**Michael D. Frankenfield, Executive Vice President and Director of Global Sales.** Mr. Frankenfield joined the Company in 1989 within the Consulting Services Group. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. Frankenfield held the position of Vice President, Sales with the Company. From 1995 to 2000 Mr. Frankenfield was Director of Investment Banking Sales with the Company. From 2000 until 2005, Mr. Frankenfield was Director of Sales and Marketing with FactSet and from September 2005 until August 2009, he was the Director of Investment Management Services. In August 2009, he was promoted to his current position as Director of Global Sales. Mr. Frankenfield received a B.A. in Economics and International Relations from the University of Pennsylvania and has earned the right to use the Chartered Financial Analyst designation and is a member of the CFA Institute.

Maurizio Nicolelli, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Nicolelli joined the Company in 1996 as the Senior Accountant and held the position of Chief Accountant from 1999 to 2001. From 2002 to 2009, he served as Vice President and Comptroller of the Company. From October 2009 to 2013, he occupied the position of Senior Vice President, Principal Financial Officer. On October 18, 2013, Mr. Nicolelli was appointed to his current position as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining FactSet, he was employed at PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. He holds a B.S. degree in Political Science from Syracuse University and an M.B.A. degree in Accounting from St. John's University. Mr. Nicolelli is a CPA licensed in the state of New York.

**Kieran M. Kennedy, Senior Vice President and Director of Sales Operations.** Mr. Kennedy joined the Company in 1990 within the Consulting Services Group. From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Kennedy held the position of Sales and Consulting Manager for the West Coast. Mr. Kennedy was Director of Consulting from 1997 until he assumed the position as Director of Investment Banking and Brokerage Services in 2002. In August 2009, he assumed his current position as Director of Sales Operations. Prior to joining FactSet, Mr. Kennedy held a Currency Trading position at Goldman Sachs & Co. Mr. Kennedy received a B.A. in Economics from Syracuse University.

#### COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

This compensation discussion and analysis ("CD&A") is intended to provide context for the decisions underlying the compensation reported in the executive compensation tables included in this Proxy Statement for the Company's named executive officers during fiscal 2013 who are listed as follows:

- Philip A. Hadley, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
- Peter G. Walsh, Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer
- Michael D. Frankenfield, Executive Vice President and Director of Global Sales
- Maurizio Nicolelli, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
- Kieran M. Kennedy, Senior Vice President and Director of Sales Operations

The Compensation Committee of the Board is responsible for policies and decisions regarding the compensation and benefits for each named executive officer ("NEO"). The Compensation Committee also administers FactSet's stock option plans. Certain facts described in this CD&A reflect Compensation Committee deliberations about which management does not have personal knowledge, although the Compensation Committee has advised management that the information in this CD&A is accurate and materially complete.

#### Fiscal 2013 Financial Highlights

- *Continued Growth* Fiscal 2013 was the Company's 35<sup>th</sup> year of operation, its 33<sup>rd</sup> consecutive year of revenue growth and its 17<sup>th</sup> consecutive year of positive earnings growth as a public company.
- Annual Subscription Value ("ASV") Growth FactSet reported organic ASV growth of 6% over the last twelve months and totaled \$888 million at August 31, 2013.
- *Revenue Growth* The Company reported a 6% increase in revenue growth during fiscal 2013 as compared to a year ago. Each geographic segment grew revenues in fiscal 2013.
- Lower Effective Tax Rate the effective tax rate for the full fiscal 2013 year was 26.7% as compared to 31.3% a year ago.
- EPS Expansion Diluted earnings per share increased 8% in fiscal 2013 compared to the year ago period.
- Free Cash Flow During the last twelve months, free cash flow was \$251 million, up 20% from the prior year and exceeded net income by 27% as the Company experienced record levels of net income, positive working capital changes, and a year over year decline in capital expenditures.

#### **Fiscal 2013 Operational Highlights**

- *Job Creation* Employee count rose 9% to 6,258, up 523 employees from a year ago as FactSet continued to aggressively invest in its people.
- Acquisition of Revere Data On September 5, 2013, FactSet announced it had acquired the assets of Revere Data, LLC for \$15.4 million. Over
  the last decade, Revere has built an industry taxonomy that offers investors a unique way to classify companies and analyze how they fit in the
  global economy. Revere also offers a robust database of supply chain relationships that helps investors identify companies' interrelationships and
  mutual dependencies.
- *User and Client Count Expansion* The Company added 108 net new clients over the past 12 months as client count grew to 2,500 at the end of the current fiscal year. The number of professionals subscribing to FactSet services grew by 1,425 during fiscal 2013 and totaled 50,925 as of August 31, 2013. Annual client retention was greater than 95% of ASV and 92% of clients, consistent with last year.
- Recognition in the Workplace –, FactSet was ranked one of Fortune's "100 Best Companies to Work For," FactSet Europe was named one of the "UK's 50 Best Workplaces," and listed as one of "France's 50 Best Workplaces".
- *Returning Value to Stockholders* In May 2013, FactSet increased its regular quarterly dividend by 13% to \$0.35 per share, making 2013 the eighth consecutive year FactSet has increased its dividend by more than 10%. Aggregating dividends with share repurchases, the Company returned \$388 million to stockholders during fiscal 2013.

#### **Recent Market Trends**

The global equity indices have experienced significant volatility in the past few years, which has had an impact on the solvency, size and buying power of some of the Company's clients and firms facing increasing pressure from regulators and investors to provide operational transparency. Despite this challenging climate, FactSet has consistently grown quarterly revenues. This volatility in the financial markets that originally began in late 2008 prompted investors to question the role that executive compensation programs may have had in contributing to excessive risk-taking by senior executives to achieve short-term financial gain at the expense of the long-term health of a company.

The Compensation Committee continues to review the objectives and design of FactSet's executive compensation policies to encourage decisions and behaviors to align with the long-term interests of the Company's stockholders. The Committee concluded the following:

- FactSet's programs appropriately balance short- and long-term incentives, with approximately 30% of the total target compensation for the senior executive team provided in equity and focused on long-term performance.
- Executive compensation policies pay for performance against goals that are set to be challenging to motivate a high degree of business performance, with an emphasis on longer-term financial success and prudent risk management.
- Qualitative factors beyond the quantitative financial metrics are a key consideration in the determination of individual executive compensation payments.

#### **Executive Compensation Philosophy**

FactSet has historically established executive compensation based upon the following goals and principles:

- Provide appropriate incentives for both individual and business performance.
- Link the long-term financial interests of kev employees and FactSet's stockholders via stock-based incentives.
- Maintain executive compensation at levels relative to other members of senior management.
- Attract and retain talented personnel by considering compensation offered for similar positions by other companies in the technology and financial information industries.

*Provide appropriate incentives for both individual and business performance.* Approximately 45% of each named executive officer's total compensation in fiscal 2013 is performance-based variable compensation, which rewards the executive for annual business performance against pre-determined goals. The Compensation Committee has designed the executive compensation program to encourage named executive officers to strive for outstanding individual performance, which is expected in turn to drive the positive performance of the Company as a whole. The Compensation Committee reviews the individual goals of each named executive officer prior to the end of each fiscal year to determine the executive's performance relative to stated objectives, both quantitative as well as qualitative. A named executive officer's achievement of certain goal levels will dictate, with the application of some discretion by the Committee, that executive's bonus for the fiscal year just completed as well as salary levels for the coming fiscal year.

Align the financial interests of key employees and FactSet's stockholders via share-based incentives. The Compensation Committee seeks to motivate executives to work conscientiously to achieve both short term and long term goals and, thereby, create stockholder value. Equity-based compensation, including stock options and restricted stock, has regularly represented a significant portion of total compensation. With stock options, executives only benefit if the Company's stock price appreciates from the date of grant of the award. The Compensation Committee has also viewed options as a method, not only of encouraging the named executive officers to drive Company performance in the long term, but also of encouraging the retention of officers. With restricted stock, the Compensation Committee has recognized that share ownership by named executive officers is a positive characteristic. Named executive officers' interests as stockholders and option holders themselves have been aligned in the past with those of stockholders generally, and are anticipated to remain so aligned due in part to the large share ownership such officers have maintained.

Maintain executive compensation at levels relative to other members of management. In addition to the other elements relevant to determining named executive officers' compensation, FactSet's Compensation Committee has also considered the potential difference between the total compensation package offered to its top executives and the compensation of other employees, both management and non-management. The Compensation Committee determines compensation and stock-based incentive awards for the named executive officers at the same time as it approves pools for the Company as a whole. The Compensation Committee criteria and performance levels attempt to provide compensation to named executive officers that both recognize their achievements, but also maintain internal pay equity in comparison with other executives and the general employee base. This awareness has helped with retention not only at the senior executive level but also at other levels in developing management of the Company.

Attract and retain talented personnel. The Company operates in several highly competitive labor markets and must ensure that total compensation compares well with that offered by competitors in those markets. The Compensation Committee has designed executive compensation bearing in mind the compensation offered by other companies in the technology and financial information industry, to the extent such information is publicly available. The Committee also considers that the named executive officers' share ownership of FactSet stock is, in some cases, a significant point of distinction from other companies in determining compensation.

#### **Elements of Compensation**

FactSet's executive officers are compensated in a manner consistent with the Company's strategy, competitive practice, sound corporate governance principles and stockholder interests and concerns. The core of FactSet's executive compensation philosophy continues to be to pay for performance, as discussed in greater detail below. Fiscal 2013 annual compensation decisions emphasized rewarding performance. Certain fiscal 2013 financial performance goals established for each NEO's variable cash incentive, such as diluted EPS growth, were achieved, while other financial goals, such as ASV growth, were not achieved, thus bonus awards in fiscal 2013 were at or slightly lower than the amounts paid in fiscal 2012.

The three major elements of FactSet's executive officer compensation in fiscal 2013 continued to be:

- Base salary;
- Variable cash incentive awards (annual bonus); and
- Long-term, equity-based incentive awards.

Base Salary. The Compensation Committee has established base salaries according to the experience and qualifications of the individual executives. Generally, base salaries are intended to be sufficiently competitive to attract and retain key employees, although they are secondary to a view of total cash compensation. When determining changes in base salary for fiscal 2013, the Compensation Committee performed its own evaluation of overall Company performance, considered the individual's scope of responsibility, relevant career experience, past and future contributions to the Company's success, and competitive compensation data for peer group companies. The Compensation Committee did not use a formula to determine the increases, and no one factor is weighted more heavily than another. Although the Compensation Committee does not have a specific benchmark, the goal of the CEO and Compensation Committee is to ensure that total compensation packages (including base salaries of the NEOs) generally remain competitive with the 50th percentile when compared to peer group companies. For fiscal 2013, the Compensation Committee recommended that each NEO salary level be increased at a marginal rate to ensure current base salary is more competitive with industry peers. On average, the fiscal 2013 base salary increase for each NEO (including the CEO) was 3%, which was comparable to the average base salary increase for all employees of FactSet.

Annual Bonus. The Compensation Committee determined annual bonuses on a discretionary basis considering a number of factors including FactSet's ASV and EPS growth, achievement of Corporate, strategic and department goals, individual performance and competitive market practices. Each executive had an assortment of objectives that were established at the beginning of the year and reviewed with the executive. Annual Company-level performance goals serve both to motivate executives as well as to increase stockholder returns by focusing executive performance on the attainment of those goals identified as having a positive impact on the Company's short-and long-term business results. In the normal course of business, the Committee determines the bonuses for the named executive officers based on their operational and financial performance, as described in further detail below. The bonus amounts are not determined by a predefined formula. Rather they are judgment-based and based upon achievement of individual goals, overall company performance for the fiscal year and a review of compensation at peer companies for each named executive officer. For each NEO, management of the Company prepares for the Compensation Committee a written performance appraisal, peer review compensation statistics and a recommendation for compensation change. The recommendations are reviewed by the Compensation Committee and may be revised based on discussion of this information.

Long-term, Equity-based Incentive Awards. The use of equity-based compensation has been a significant component of FactSet's overall compensation philosophy and is one that the Company plans to continue. FactSet's philosophy is built on the principles that equity compensation should seek to align employees' actions with stockholder interests; attract, retain, and motivate highly qualified executives; and, balance the focus on short- and longer-term performance objectives. The Company believes that it has been successful in achieving this alignment through the use of equity-based compensation, which includes the use of restricted stock awards. The Compensation Committee has also recognized the unique significant ownership stake of the NEOs in the Company and consequently has not mandated that its executive officers maintain a specified level of stock ownership in the Company. The Compensation Committee determines the size of the long-term, equity-based incentives according to each NEO's position within FactSet and sets a level it considers appropriate to create a meaningful opportunity for reward predicated on increasing stockholder value. The Committee takes into account an individual's performance history, his or her potential for future advancement, the Chief Executive Officer's recommendations for awards other than his own and the value of existing vested and unvested outstanding equity awards. The relative weight given to each of these factors varies among individuals at the Compensation Committee's discretion. All equity-based plan awards are granted subsequent to the end of each fiscal year in order to be synchronized with the year-end performance review process and the timing of the annual bonus payments.

FactSet structured its long-term equity-based grants in fiscal 2013 as a mix of service-based and performance-based stock options, as the Compensation Committee believed the most effective way to promote equity ownership by the executives, reward them for solid operating performance and retain them is to award service-based stock options in addition to performance-based stock options as the vehicles for equity-based compensation.

- Service-based Stock Options. Stock options have been intended to align incentives with long-term stock performance and the interests of stockholders and act as a motivational and retention tool. In November 2011, the Committee noted that the fair value of the Company's common stock was appreciating and greater than the strike price of the past two annual restricted stock grants to employees including the NEOs. As a result, the Committee recommended the issuance of service-based stock options instead of restricted stock awards in November 2012 in order to achieve the desired benefits. The service-based stock options granted in November 2012 vest ratably over a five year period.
- *Performance-Based Stock Options*. In a further effort to drive long-term performance, the Compensation Committee approved performance-based options that were granted to NEOs as well as other employees of the Company in November 2012. Performance-based stock options require management to make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving Company performance goals. The number of performance-based options that vest will be predicated on the Company achieving performance levels for both organic subscriptions and diluted earnings per share during the two years ended August 31, 2014. Dependent on the financial performance levels attained, 0%, 20%, 60% or 100% of the performance-based stock options will ultimately vest to the grantees of those stock options. Performance levels, vesting percentages and the ratio of performance options granted to all options granted are identical for the named executive officers and all other employees who received option grants.

Perquisites and Personal Benefits. The Company's policy is to not extend perquisites or personal benefits to employees other than for limited and specifically defined business purposes. The incremental costs to the Company in fiscal 2013 of those benefits provided to NEOs that the Securities and Exchange Commission deems to be "perquisites and personal benefits" are reported in the "Summary Compensation Table" (included in the amounts reported in the column captioned "All Other Compensation"). The Audit Committee exercises oversight over the perquisites and personal benefits that are made available to NEOs. The Compensation Committee determined that the perquisites and personal benefits available to NEOs in fiscal 2013, and their costs to the Company, were reasonable and properly disclosed to stockholders. In addition, named executive officers are able to participate in the same defined benefit plans as all other eligible employees, including health, retirement, life insurance, and disability plans, as well as an employee stock purchase plan.

Post-Termination Compensation. Beyond allowing executives to participate in the Company's 401(k) plan, under which the Company matches contributions for all employees up to a maximum of \$10,000 (and subject to any limitations imposed by ERISA), FactSet does not provide any other post-employment benefits to its executive officers or any employees. However, Mr. Walsh is entitled to certain severance benefits pursuant to his employment agreement in the event of a change in control of the Company or his separation from the Company under certain circumstances. His additional severance and change in control benefits are described below under the heading "Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control."

#### Tax Considerations

In establishing individual executives' compensation levels, the Company does not explicitly consider accounting and tax issues. However, FactSet does analyze the overall expense arising from aggregate executive compensation levels and awards and the components of the Company's compensation programs.

FactSet believes it is in its best interest, to the extent practical, to have compensation paid to its named executive officers be fully deductible under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Section 162(m) generally provides that publicly-held companies may not deduct compensation paid to certain of its top executive officers to the extent that such compensation exceeds \$1 million per officer in a calendar year. Compensation that is "performance-based" compensation within the meaning of the Code does not count toward the \$1 million limit. FactSet has taken steps to ensure that payments to its named executive officers under the long-term equity-based incentive programs meet the Section 162(m) requirements, where feasible. Stockbased awards granted under the Company's stock option and award plans meet the requirement of Section 162(m). The Compensation Committee retains the discretion to provide compensation that potentially may not be fully deductible to reward performance and/or enhance retention. As of August 31, 2013, the Company's annual bonus plan does not meet the requirements because it is not stockholder approved. However, the Compensation Committee believes that it must maintain flexibility in its approach in order to structure a program that is effective in attracting, motivating and retaining the Company's key executives.

Executive pay at FactSet has historically not exceeded the annual compensation deduction limit of Section 162(m), and all but \$5,000 of the Company's NEOs compensation was within the \$1 million limit in fiscal 2013. The tax deductibility of compensation for the named executive officers will be preserved as long as such actions are consistent with the Committee's compensation policies and objectives and are in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

#### **Process of Determining Annual Executive Compensation**

FactSet has not entered into any employment agreements with any of its NEOs, other than an agreement that grants certain rights to Mr. Walsh in the event of a separation from the Company. As such, FactSet is not bound by any contractual salary, incentive grants or other compensation requirements for the named executive officers. FactSet's Compensation Committee has not historically used the services of a compensation consultant. In the determination of stock options grants and bonuses, the Committee has considered information provided to it by management, at the Committee's request, regarding the compensation levels of executives at designated peer companies.

In fiscal 2013, the Committee worked with management in the compensation review process as follows:

Methodology Determination. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compensation Committee met to determine the methods it would use to set compensation for the NEOs. Each compensation component and the Compensation Committee's decisions regarding these elements are considered as part of a collective package of compensation to each individual NEO. The Committee members discuss what they believe to be appropriate levels of compensation in their business judgment. Each element of compensation is considered independently for overall soundness of the level of compensation in relation to the amounts awarded to other individuals. The Compensation Committee has not considered any forms of compensation other than salary, bonus and equity awards.

Develop performance measures. The Compensation Committee and Mr. Hadley, the Company's Chief Executive Officer identified appropriate performance measures and recommended performance objectives that were used to determine annual and long-term awards. Each NEO's compensation as a whole is considered in comparison to that of other executives and employees of the Company. The Compensation Committee has not considered any forms of compensation other than salary, bonus and equity awards. Perquisites have historically been less than 5% of each NEO's total compensation and represent the dollar value of matching contributions to the FactSet 401(k) Plan made by FactSet on behalf of each NEO, use of Company automobiles and medical and dental benefits paid by the Company on behalf of the NEO.

Compile benchmark data. Management prepared benchmarking and competitive data with respect to historical compensation and its defined peer group. The Compensation Committee utilized this information in connection with establishing NEO compensation plans and parameters at its meetings. In addition, each NEO's compensation as a whole is considered in comparison to that of other executives and employees of the Company. The Committee did not engage in any further quantitative or qualitative analyses regarding its decision to make specific compensation awards or regarding any particular type of award or form of compensation.

Meetings. In a series of meetings, the Compensation Committee determines appropriate salary for the upcoming year, bonus levels for the fiscal year just completed and upcoming equity-based grants for the named executive officers. The Compensation Committee follows guidelines for equity-based awards, which apply to awards for named executive officers as well as all other employees. The guidelines require management to study, make recommendations and provide supporting analysis to the Compensation Committee regarding proposed equity awards. The supporting analysis shared with the Committee provides details about each executive's cash and total compensation, existing equity awards, the amounts vested and unvested and the percentage of total compensation that the suggested equity-based grant would represent. The materials also demonstrate the aggregate amount of awards and other compensation that have been historically granted and are proposed to be granted to the Company in the aggregate. In addition, management reviews with the Committee the various Company performance levels and the equity-based grants that would vest based on the various performance targets. On the basis of such materials, prepared at the Committee's request, the Compensation Committee approves equity grants for each member of the Company's senior management, which includes the named executive officers. Typically, during the same meeting, the Compensation Committee further approves total equity-based grants for all FactSet employees in the aggregate. The Compensation Committee thus determines awards for the named executive officers in the context of considering grants for employees of the Company as a whole.

Review Management-prepared Materials. The Compensation Committee considers materials prepared by management at the Committee's request and direction, detailing the historical salary, bonus and total cash compensation levels of the named executive officers and other members of the Company's Executive Committee. In addition, management provides to the Compensation Committee materials outlining the individual performance of each named executive officer with respect to his goals and objectives for the past year, both qualitative and quantitative, measured against financial goals for the Company's performance as well quantitative performance in the individual executive's functional area. Management also provides the Committee with materials regarding the overall financial performance of the Company as well as operational and strategic accomplishments during the past fiscal year. Historically, management has also provided an evaluation during a meeting of the contribution to the performance of the Company by each named executive officer. The Committee members then make their determinations as to the bonus for the just completed fiscal year and base salary for the upcoming year for each named executive officer. Management does not participate in this deliberation and the CEO is not present for discussions regarding his own compensation. Typically, at the same meeting, the Compensation Committee approves the total bonus pool for the Company's operational areas as a whole, so that compensation to the named executive officers is made in the larger context of compensation for all the Company's employees.

Develop CEO compensation recommendations. For the CEO's compensation, the Compensation Committee met in closed session to determine recommendations for base salary, annual bonus, and share-based compensation. These recommendations were developed with no input from the CEO, and took into account overall Company performance, personal performance against objectives, Board and staff member feedback, and compensation benchmarking data provided by external sources. Compensation Committee recommendations were then reviewed and approved by all independent directors of the Board, in closed session without the CEO present.

In fiscal 2013, management provided the Compensation Committee with performance targets that correlate to "Below", "Expected", "Excellent" and "Superlative" results for ASV growth. The Company's EPS targets are also implied in that the Company is managed each year with the goal of EPS growth being equal to or greater than ASV growth. These targets are detailed for each geographic region managed by a NEO and for the Company in aggregate. The growth figures do not, however, correlate to any target compensation levels, but rather informs the Compensation Committee generally as to the performance of the Company. The Compensation Committee also considered qualitative comments pertaining to each named executive officers' goals and performance gathered during the Company's standard review process for all employees. Although no specific levels of compensation were tied to the achievement of these goals, the Compensation Committee took such performance into account in awarding bonuses and equity awards. No other specific items of corporate performance are taken into account in making compensation decisions.

Performance versus Goals and Objectives. The Compensation Committee determines the actual size of bonus payments and equity-based grants awarded to each of the named executive officers based on the Compensation Committee's subjective view of the executives' achievement of qualitative goals set out in materials provided to the Committee by management. There are no specific quantitative formulas involved that would result in a particular compensation level. The Committee agrees on the executive's performance and related compensation through conversation and discussion.

- Mr. Hadley's goals included increase ASV, EPS growth greater than ASV growth, make significant strategic decisions to improve FactSet's competitive position, review and make informed decisions on products that are gaining and losing value/share, be a leader that can communicate the Company's goals, strategies and values including optimizing capital allocation, be a role model for FactSet's culture and be involved in acquisitions, large client pricing, supplier decisions and significant new investments.
- Mr. Walsh's goals included increase ASV, EPS growth greater than ASV growth, deliver on software engineering goals including improving the speed and stability of FactSet and retention of talented employees, continue to work on the NextGen project, enhance core FactSet content sets such as Estimates, Economics, DCS and T&C, improve timeliness, coverage and accuracy of FactSet Fundamentals, release KPI and improve "As Reported" data, deliver on product goals such as StreetAccount news, PA 3.0, Wireless, Data feeds and Market Metrics LMS desktop application, and be a leader that can communicate the Company's goals.
- Mr. Frankenfield's goals included growing ASV at a pace greater than last year, acquiring new clients, continue to improve all aspects of the sales operations to effectively capitalize on new business opportunities, improve end-user classification, convert news and quotes opportunities to FactSet workflows, be involved in large client pricing discussions, assist with the development of FactSet' internal client relationship management system, meet certain human resources hiring and retention goals and be a leader that can communicate the Company's goals.
- Mr. Nicolelli's goals included increase ASV, EPS growth greater than ASV growth, ensure financial reporting compliance, manage FactSet's cost structure to maximize the Company's competitive position, improve the visibility of internal financial metrics by developing internal applications, assist the Audit Committee in the evaluation of the audit relationship, evaluate strategic opportunities to improve sales to existing applications, grow the Market Metrics service offering and effectively manage the Company's worldwide effective tax rate.
- Mr. Kennedy's goals included increase ASV, build a specialist sales team dedicated to the trading user class, enhance the Company's client relationship management system in order to deliver improved speed and ease of use, analyze in-process metrics to identify bottlenecks in the sales process and measure sales force effectiveness, implement a unified sales reporting portal, evaluate the price to value relationship of FactSet's product offerings and make necessary adjustments to maximize ASV, simplify the Company's pricing model for existing clients, implement global price increases, oversee the global marketing budget and meet certain human resources hiring and retention goals.

The compensation to be issued is not based on a quantitative formula. Each named executive officer was measured on his performance relative to their qualitative goals in determining the appropriate overall level of compensation. The compensation is then granted as a mix including base salary, bonus and equity-based grants.

Performance-based Option Awards. With regard to performance-based option awards, the Company will be required to review its two year compounded annual growth rate of organic ASV and diluted EPS to determine the number of nonqualified performance-based options that a named executive officer will be entitled to receive, based on levels ranging from "Below Expectations," to "Expected," "Excellent" and "Superlative". The following table sets forth the percentage of options granted that will vest at the end of the two year measurement period based on performance levels achieved by the Company. All Company employees granted performance-based options are eligible to have options vest on the same basis as the named executive officers.

Performance Level	Applicable Performance
Below Expectations	0%
Expected	20%
Excellent	60%
Superlative	100%

The Compensation Committee exercised its discretion over all cash and service-based equity awards to the named executive officers. The only compensation tool currently tied to a predefined formula is performance-based stock option awards. For options granted on November 1, 2011, the two-year measurement period concluded on August 31, 2013. The two-year compounded annual ASV and EPS growth rates were reviewed by the Company and its Audit Committee. The actual performance level achieved over the two-year measurement period for organic ASV of 6.1%, which equated to "Below Expectations" as was the EPS growth rate of 11.0%, thus none (or 0%) of the performance-based stock options vested. The Company has disclosed in its fiscal 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K the financial ramifications of a change in the performance level currently estimated by the Company for the November 2012 performance-based stock options currently outstanding as of August 31, 2013.

Upon grant, management estimates that with regard to the performance levels associated with performance-based options, the "Expected" level is likely and should be achieved, the "Excellent" level is not probable and is very difficult to achieve, and the "Superlative" level is not probable and is highly unlikely to be achieved. A historical analysis of the likelihood of achieving the various performance levels since these types of options were first granted was performed by FactSet during fiscal 2013, which indicated that the average outcome achieved since 2006 was 27% or within the "Expected" and "Excellent" performance levels.

The Committee has not designated target levels of performance that would enable an executive to qualify for an exact amount or a range of compensation levels, whether in the form of salary, bonus or option awards. Neither the Company nor the Compensation Committee has determined threshold, target and maximum payments for salaries or the actual size of bonus payments related to the Company's performance, nor have they set the threshold, target and maximum number of shares underlying the performance share awards as related to the Company's performance. Only the vesting of performance-based options is linked to specific growth targets of the Company as a whole, not any individual named executive officer's performance.

The Compensation Committee considered all compensation to each NEO at the same time it determined the Company's annual bonus and equity incentive awards pools. It should also be noted that no named executive officer participates in any Compensation Committee discussions of that executive's own compensation.

#### **Long-term Executive Incentive Compensation**

FactSet believes that both cash compensation and non-cash compensation are appropriate mechanisms for driving executive performance in support of stockholder value. Cash compensation rewards annual (short-term) performance, while non-cash compensation is generally used to reinforce sustained performance over a longer period of time. The allocation between annual cash compensation and long-term equity compensation is based primarily on an evaluation of an executive's overall role and contributions to the Company, taking into account competitive concerns regarding attracting and retaining superior talent.

#### **Peer Group Executive Compensation Review**

The Compensation Committee is provided executive compensation data of similarly situated NEOs at companies determined to be comparable by the Compensation Committee. The peer group consists of Advent Software, Inc., The Advisory Board Company, Arbitron Inc., CoStar Group, Inc., The Corporate Executive Board Company, Informatica Corporation, IHS Inc., Morningstar, Inc., MSCI Inc., THQ Inc., Solera Holdings, TIBCO Software Inc. and Verint Systems Inc.

In addition to the identified peer group, the compensation provided to NEOs at the following companies was reviewed by the Compensation Committee: Federated Investors, Janus Capital Group, Inc., NASDAQ OMX, NYSE Euronext, QLIK Technologies, Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc. and Verisk Analytics. The materials presented to the Compensation Committee detailed the company compensation by type, including salary, bonus and equity awards. The Compensation Committee believes that its total target compensation for NEOs is competitive. The Compensation Committee noted that management positions reported by peer companies are not always parallel to those of the Company. Given the large current and historical equity ownership of management, cash compensation relative to industry peers has not been a primary focus of overall compensation. Total compensation awarded to Mr. Hadley was found to be below the average compensation for his analogous peers. However, the total compensation approved and awarded to Mr. Walsh, Mr. Frankenfield, Mr. Nicolelli and Mr. Kennedy was within the range of aggregate compensation granted to each analogous peer.

# COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee (the "Committee") is responsible for administering FactSet's executive compensation policies and practices. The Committee is comprised solely of independent directors and reports regularly to the Board. Independent directors are not eligible to participate in any of the plans or programs the Committee administers. In fiscal 2013, the Committee reviewed compensation, including equity-based awards, for each named executive officer ("NEO"). The Committee reviews and approves the aggregate number of equity-based awards granted to all employees of FactSet. The Committee also reviews the compensation, including stock and option-based awards, for each member of senior management including those employees who report directly to either the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer or Director of Global Sales. The Committee believes that the fiscal 2013 compensation of the NEOs was aligned with FactSet's performance and returns to stockholders and provided a balanced mix between base pay and incentive compensation.

The Compensation Committee reviewed and discussed with management the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" below and recommended to the Board that it be included in this Proxy Statement. The Compensation Committee has represented to management that, to the extent that the "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" purports to disclose the Compensation Committee's deliberations and philosophy in making executive compensation decisions and policy, it is accurate and materially complete.

SUBMITTED BY THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Joseph E. Laird, Jr., Chairman James J. McGonigle Walter F. Siebecker

#### **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION**

The tables below present compensation information for each named executive officer followed by a narrative discussion of compensation that each NEO could receive when their employment with the Company terminates under various circumstances or upon a change in control of the Company. The tables include footnotes and other narrative explanations important for your understanding of the compensation information in each table.

The first table below, the Summary Compensation Table, sets forth the compensation earned by the NEOs for services rendered in all capacities to FactSet for each respective fiscal year. The Company's named executive officers include FactSet's Principal Executive Officer ("PEO"), Principal Financial Officer ("PFO") and the three most highly compensated executive officers (other than the PEO and PFO) during fiscal 2013.

#### **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table summarizes the compensation earned or awarded to each NEO for fiscal years 2013, 2012 and 2011.

		Salary	Bonus	Stock Awards	Option Awards	All Other ompensation	Total
Name and Principal Position	Year	(\$)	(\$)(1)	(\$)(1)	(\$)(3)(4)	(\$)(5)	(\$)
Philip A. Hadley	2013	\$ 300,000	\$ 705,000	\$ 	\$ 666,667	\$ 41,424	\$ 1,713,091
Chief Executive Officer	2012	\$ 275,000	\$ 715,000	\$ 	\$ 600,000	\$ 35,808	\$ 1,625,828
	2011	\$ 275,000	\$ 800,000	\$ 400,000	\$ 133,333	\$ 35,752	\$ 1,644,085
Peter G. Walsh	2013	\$ 275,000	\$ 555,000	\$ 	\$ 400,000	\$ 41,830	\$ 1,271,830
Chief Operating Officer	2012	\$ 265,000	\$ 555,000	\$ 	\$ 300,000	\$ 28,006	\$ 1,148,006
	2011	\$ 265,000	\$ 620,000	\$ 	\$ 	\$ 22,931	\$ 907,931
Michael D. Frankenfield	2013	\$ 275,000	\$ 555,000	\$ 	\$ 400,000	\$ 34,879	\$ 1,264,284
Director of Global Sales	2012	\$ 265,000	\$ 555,000	\$ 	\$ 300,000	\$ 31,284	\$ 1,151,284
	2011	\$ 265,000	\$ 620,000	\$ 	\$ 	\$ 28,060	\$ 913,060
Maurizio Nicolelli	2013	\$ 225,000	\$ 240,000	\$ 	\$ 280,000	\$ 38,702	\$ 783,702
Chief Financial Officer	2012	\$ 190,000	\$ 250,000	\$ 	\$ 180,000	\$ 27,032	\$ 647,032
	2011	\$ 190,000	\$ 250,000	\$ 175,000	\$ 258,333	\$ 21,310	\$ 894,643
Kieran M. Kennedy	2013	\$ 225,000	\$ 340,000	\$ 	\$ 253,333	\$ 32,783	\$ 851,116
Director of Sales Operations	2012	\$ 235,000	\$ 332,000	\$ 	\$ 175,000	\$ 28,649	\$ 770,649
	2011	\$ 235,000	\$ 365,000	\$ 150,000	\$ 50,000	\$ 27,366	\$ 827,366

- (1) The Bonus column lists discretionary cash bonuses awarded for services rendered during the applicable fiscal year based on achievement of certain goals established at the beginning of each fiscal year. These financial goals included organic subscription growth and diluted earnings per share growth greater than revenue growth. Annual variable compensation payments are made within two months following the end of each fiscal year. See the detailed description of the Annual Bonus in the preceding CD&A under the sub-heading "Annual Bonus."
- (2) The amounts set forth in the Stock Awards column represent the aggregate grant date fair value, computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The assumptions made for the valuation of the stock awards are disclosed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's fiscal 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- (3) The amounts set forth in the Option Awards column represent the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The Company utilizes a lattice-binomial model to estimate the fair value of new stock options on the date of grant. The assumptions made for the valuation of option awards are disclosed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's fiscal 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K. A stock option has value only if the Company's stock price increases above the option exercise price (an "in-the-money" option). If a NEO exercises an in-the-money option, he would then realize an actual gain. Any gain actually realized for options exercised in 2013 is reported in the "Option Exercises and Stock Vested" table.
- (4) The fiscal 2013 dollar value reported within the option awards column represents 100% of the fair value of service-based options granted during fiscal 2013 plus 20% of the fair value of performance-based stock options granted on November 1, 2012 (which is the percentage of the grant that is expected to vest). The fiscal 2012 dollar value reported within the option awards column represents only the fair value of the service-based options granted because none of the performance-based stock options granted on November 1, 2011 became eligible to vest. The two-year measurement period for these performance-based options concluded on August 31, 2013 and the actual performance levels achieved were below expectations and as such, none of the performance-based stock options vested. However, if 20% of performance-based stock options had become eligible to vest (consistent with fiscal 2013), the total dollar value of option awards granted in fiscal 2012 would have been \$800,000; \$400,000; \$220,000; and \$233,333, respectively, for Messrs. Hadley, Walsh, Frankenfield, Nicolelli and Kennedy.
- (5) Amounts reflect the value of matching contributions to the FactSet 401(k) Plan made by FactSet on behalf of each NEO, use of Company automobiles and medical and dental benefits paid by the Company on behalf of the NEO. FactSet matches up to 4% of employees' bi-weekly earnings, capped at the IRS annual maximum. There were no other perquisites and other personal benefits for NEOs. Fiscal 2013 amounts for personal use of Company automobiles were \$11,025; \$11,948; \$5,100; \$9,150; and \$2,990, respectively, for Messrs. Hadley, Walsh, Frankenfield, Nicolelli and Kennedy.

#### **Grants of Plan-Based Awards**

Non-Equity Incentive Compensation. The Company did not award non-equity incentive compensation during fiscal 2013 to any of its NEOs.

**Stock Awards.** FactSet has structured its long-term equity-based grants in fiscal 2011 as a mix of stock options and restricted stock awards. For fiscal 2013 and 2012, the Committee believes that, in light of the appreciation in FactSet stock, the most effective way to promote equity ownership by the executives, reward them for solid operating performance and retain them is to award service-based stock options in addition to performance-based stock options as the vehicles for equity-based compensation. As a result, the Company granted service-based stock option awards to its NEOs during fiscal 2013 and 2012 instead of restricted stock awards in order to achieve the desired benefits.

*Option Awards.* As stated earlier, the Committee recommended the issuance of option awards in replace of stock awards during fiscal 2013. As such, in November 2012, the NEOs were granted a mix of service-based stock options and performance-based stock option awards. The fiscal 2013 option awards were granted under the FactSet Research Systems Inc. 2004 Stock Option and Award Plan, as amended and restated (the "Stock Plan").

Service-based stock option grant – Stock options have been intended to align incentives with long-term stock performance and the interests of stockholders and act as a motivational and retention tool. In November 2012, the Committee noted that the fair value of the Company's common stock was appreciating and greater than the strike price of the past two annual restricted stock grants to employees including the NEOs. As a result, the Committee recommended the issuance of service-based stock options instead of restricted stock awards in November 2012 in order to achieve the desired benefits. The service-based stock options granted on November 1, 2012 vest ratably over a five year period.

Performance-based stock option grant – In a further effort to drive long-term performance, the Compensation Committee approved performance-based options that were granted to NEOs as well as other employees of the Company in November 2012. The number of performance-based options that vest will be predicated on the Company achieving performance levels for both organic ASV and diluted EPS during the two years ended August 31, 2014. Dependent on the financial performance levels attained, 0%, 20%, 60% or 100% of the performance-based stock options will ultimately vest to the grantees of those stock options. Performance levels, vesting percentages and the ratio of performance options granted to all options granted are identical for the named executive officers and all other employees who received option grants. The material terms of these grants include:

- If performance conditions are met during the two years ended August 31, 2014, the performance-based options granted in fiscal 2013 vest at a rate of 40% after the first two years and 1.67% per month thereafter for years three through five. Options become vested and exercisable provided the employee continues employment with the Company through the applicable vesting date, and remain exercisable until expiration or cancellation.
- Options expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date. Options will expire before ten years if employment terminates, except for certain termination reasons described below.
- Options may be exercised only while the NEO is actively employed except for termination due to death, disability or a reason other than cause. Refer to the section "Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control" for further review of change in control definitions.

The following table provides information on all option awards granted during fiscal 2013 to each of FactSet's named executive officers. There can be no assurance that the grant date fair value, as listed in this table, of the option awards will ever be realized. The grant date fair value of these awards are included in the "Option Awards" column of the Summary Compensation Table.

Estimated possible future payouts under Equity Incentive Plan Awards (#)(2)

		Equity incentive	Pian Awards (#)(2)					
				_	All Option Awards:			
					Number of		Gı	ant Date
					Securities		Fai	r Value of
	Grant				Underlying	Exercise	Opti	on Awards
Name	Date (1)	Threshold	Target	Maximum	Options (#)	Price (\$)		(\$)(3)
Philip A. Hadley	11/1/12	-	24,968	49,623	49,623	\$ 92.22	\$	666,667
Peter G. Walsh	11/1/12	-	14,980	29,773	29,773	\$ 92.22	\$	400,000
Michael D. Frankenfield	11/1/12	-	14,980	29,773	29,773	\$ 92.22	\$	400,000
Maurizio Nicolelli	11/1/12	-	10,487	20,842	20,842	\$ 92.22	\$	280,000
Kieran M. Kennedy	11/1/12	-	9,488	18,857	18,857	\$ 92.22	\$	253,333

- (1) On October 24, 2012, the Compensation Committee approved the total number of option awards to be allocated among all eligible employees and specifically approved the option awards to be granted to each NEO and all other senior members of management. At that time, the Compensation Committee designated November 1, 2012 as the actual grant date of these options, at an option exercise price equal to 100% of the closing price of the Company's common stock on the NYSE on that date.
- (2) The number of performance-based options granted on November 1, 2012 that vest will be predicated on the Company achieving performance levels for both organic ASV and diluted EPS during the two years ended August 31, 2014. Dependent on the financial performance levels attained, 0%, 20%, 60% or 100% of the performance-based stock options will ultimately vest to the grantees of those stock options. Performance-based options require FactSet to make assumptions regarding the likelihood of achieving Company performance goals. At August 31, 2013, the Company estimated that 20% of the performance-based stock options granted on November 1, 2012 will vest. As such, the number of awards reported in the Target column above represents 100% of the service-based option awards granted and 20% of the total performance-based options granted. The total number of performance-based stock option awards granted in fiscal 2013 to Messrs. Hadley, Walsh, Frankenfield, Nicolelli and Kennedy were 30,819, 18,491, 18,491, 12,944 and 11,711, respectively. These totals can be calculated in the table above by subtracting the number of awards reported in the Target column from the total number of awards reported in the Maximum column and multiplying that number by 125%.
- (3) The amounts set forth in the Grant Date Fair Value of Option Awards column represent the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The grant date fair value amounts assume 100% of the service-based stock options and 20% of the performance-based stock options granted on November 1, 2012 will vest. The Company utilizes a lattice-binomial model to estimate the fair value of new stock options on the date of grant. The assumptions made for the valuation of option awards are disclosed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's fiscal 2013 Annual Report on Form 10-K. It should be noted that a stock option has value only if the Company's stock price increases above the option exercise price (an "in-the-money" option). If a NEO exercises an in-the-money option, he would then realize an actual gain. Any gain actually realized for options exercised in fiscal 2013 is reported in the "Option Exercises and Stock Vested" table below.

#### Outstanding Equity Awards (Restricted Stock) at Fiscal Year-end

The following table sets forth information regarding the number of shares and the value of unvested restricted stock awards held by the NEOs at August 31, 2013.

			Market Valı	ue of Shares of
	Grant	Number of Shares of Stock	Stock That H	Iave Not Vested
Name	Date	That Have Not Vested (1)(2)	(5	\$)(3)
Philip A. Hadley	10/23/09	2,546	\$	260,583
	11/8/10	4,740	\$	485,139
Peter G. Walsh	10/23/09	1,910	\$	195,489
	2/9/10	17,229	\$	1,763,388
Michael D. Frankenfield	10/23/09	1,910	\$	195,489
	2/9/10	17,229	\$	1,763,388
Maurizio Nicolelli	10/23/09	510	\$	52,199
	11/8/10	1,185	\$	121,285
Kieran M. Kennedy	10/23/09	1,592	\$	162,941
	11/8/10	1,778	\$	181,978

- (1) 60% of the stock awards granted on October 23, 2009 cliff vested on October 23, 2012. As such, the reported shares of stock that have not vested as of August 31, 2013 for the October 23, 2009 grant represents the remaining 40% that is scheduled to cliff vest on October 23, 2014. The stock awards granted to Messrs. Walsh and Frankenfield on February 9, 2010 cliff vest 60% on February 9, 2014 and 100% on February 9, 2016. The stock awards granted on November 8, 2010 cliff vest 60% on November 8, 2013 and 100% on November 8, 2015.
- (2) The vesting of the restricted stock granted to Messrs. Walsh and Frankenfield may be accelerated if certain ASV and EPS targets are achieved prior to the end of the six year service condition. As of August 31, 2013, the Company estimated that the targets will not be achieved prior to the end of the six year service condition, thus no accelerated vesting will occur. However, a change in the actual financial performance levels achieved by FactSet could result in a change to the Company's current timing of the vesting percentage and related expense.
- (3) The market value of the restricted stock awards that have not vested is calculated by multiplying the number of shares that have not vested by the closing price of FactSet common stock on August 31, 2013, which was \$102.35.

#### Outstanding Equity Awards (Stock Options) at Fiscal Year-end

The table below shows each NEOs outstanding option grants at August 31, 2013. For each outstanding option grant, the table shows the option shares that have vested (or that are "Exercisable") and those not yet vested (or that are "Unexercisable").

		Number of Options		E'	
	Grant Date	Exercisable (1)(2) (3)	Unexercisable	Exercise Price (\$)	Expiration Date
	Grant Date	(3)	Officacicisable	111cc (ψ)	Expiration Date
Philip A. Hadley	4/20/05	35,000	-	\$ 29.00	4/20/15
r	8/14/07	17,867	-	\$ 59.36	8/14/14
	8/14/08	19,533	-	\$ 65.67	8/14/15
	10/24/08	9,218	306	\$ 35.80	10/24/15
	10/23/09	25,565	7,768	\$ 66.46	10/23/16
	11/1/11	6,933	11,983	\$ 94.84	11/1/21
	11/1/12	-	49,623	\$ 92.22	11/1/22
Peter G. Walsh	4/20/05	20,000	-	\$ 29.00	4/20/15
	8/14/07	15,881	-	\$ 59.36	8/14/14
	8/14/08	18,991	-	\$ 65.67	8/14/15
	10/24/08	8,935	324	\$ 35.80	10/24/15
	10/23/09	19,174	5,826	\$ 66.46	10/23/16
	2/9/10	-	140,785	\$ 63.09	2/9/17
	11/1/11	3,461	5,997	\$ 94.84	11/1/21
	11/1/12	-	29,773	\$ 92.22	11/1/22
Michael D. Frankenfield	8/14/08	18,991	-	\$ 65.67	8/14/15
	10/24/08	8,935	324	\$ 35.80	10/24/15
	10/23/09	19,174	5,826	\$ 66.46	10/23/16
	2/9/10	-	140,785	\$ 63.09	2/9/17
	11/1/11	3,461	5,997	\$ 94.84	11/1/21
	11/1/12	-	29,773	\$ 92.22	11/1/22
Maurizio Nicolelli	8/14/08	181	-	\$ 65.67	8/14/15
	10/24/08	78	111	\$ 35.80	10/24/15
	10/23/09	5,108	1,559	\$ 66.46	10/23/16
	11/8/10 (4)	8,664	-	\$ 88.40	11/8/17
	11/8/10 (5)	11,765	_	\$ 88.40	11/8/17
	11/1/11	2,075	3,600	\$ 94.84	11/1/21
	11/1/12	-	20,842	\$ 92.22	11/1/22
Kieran M. Kennedy	8/14/08	424	-	\$ 65.67	8/14/15
•	10/24/08	216	217	\$ 35.80	10/24/15
	10/23/09	694	4,866	\$ 66.46	10/23/16
	11/1/11	2,023	3,494	\$ 94.84	11/1/21
	11/1/12	-	18,857	\$ 92.22	11/1/22

- (1) 20% of each option grant is exercisable one year after the grant date, with the remainder vesting at a rate of 1.67% per month.
- (2) Options granted to Messrs. Walsh and Frankenfield on February 9, 2010 cliff vest 60% after four years and 100% after six years of service.
- (3) Options granted on November 1, 2012 shall become exercisable based on the achievement by the issuer of certain financial performance criteria. Options that do not vest at the end of a two-year performance period will be forfeited. Options that become exercisable vest 40% after the two-year performance period with the remainder vesting at 1.67% per month thereafter.
- (4) Mr. Nicolelli was awarded 8,664 stock options on November 8, 2010 that cliff vest 25% upon the achievement of certain ASV targets over the measurement period. During fiscal 2013 FactSet achieved the last of the four ASV growth targets, thus 100% of the options vested and were exercisable as of August 31, 2013.
- (5) Mr. Nicolelli was awarded 11,765 stock options on November 8, 2010 that cliff vest 100% upon the achievement of certain targets over the measurement period. These options vested in the second quarter of fiscal 2013 when the Market Metrics business accelerated to achieve stretch revenue growth targets and were exercisable as of August 31, 2013.

#### **Option Exercises and Stock Vested**

The following table sets forth information regarding the number and value of stock options exercised and stock awards vested for each named executive officer during fiscal 2013.

	Option	Awa	ards	Stock .	rds	
	Number of		Number of			
	Shares		Value	Shares	Value	
	Acquired	I	Realized on	Acquired	Realized On	
	On Exercise		Exercise	on Vesting		Vesting
Name	(#)		(\$)(1)	(#)(2)(3)		(\$)(4)
Philip A. Hadley	96,113	\$	5,377,243	3,818	\$	351,294
Peter G. Walsh	115,361	\$	7,514,925	2,863	\$	263,425
Michael D. Frankenfield	71,292	\$	4,355,610	2,863	\$	263,425
Maurizio Nicolelli	18,615	\$	938,114	987	\$	90,899
Kieran M. Kennedy	16,302	\$	515,810	2,386	\$	219,536

- (1) Based upon the market price of the purchased shares on the exercise date less the option exercise price paid for such shares.
- (2) 60% of the stock awards granted on October 23, 2009 vested on October 23, 2012 with the remaining 40% scheduled to cliff vest on October 23, 2014.
- (3) The amounts reported for Mr. Nicolelli include the vesting of an additional 224 units of restricted stock based on an award from November 8, 2010. The total granted on November 8, 2010 was equal to 897 restricted stock units that cliff vest in equal tranches of 25% upon the achievement of certain ASV targets over the measurement period. During fiscal 2013 FactSet achieved the fourth and final ASV growth target, thus 25% or 224 restricted stock units vested.
- (4) Value realized represents the closing value of the underlying stock on the vesting date.

#### **Nongualified Deferred Compensation**

The Company does not have a Compensation Deferral Program, thus the nonqualified deferred compensation table has been omitted for fiscal 2013.

#### **Pension Benefits**

The Company does not have a Pension Program thus no pension retirement benefits were paid to executives in fiscal 2013.

#### Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

On March 1, 2005 an agreement between the Company and Mr. Peter Walsh became effective that amended an existing letter agreement with the Company dated September 20, 1999 (the "Letter Agreement"). The amendment reaffirmed the Letter Agreement, which remains in effect and which is to be superseded by a written agreement only if all other officers of the Company ranked more highly than Mr. Walsh also enter into written employment agreements with the Company. The Letter Agreement grants to Mr. Walsh: (i) an estimated payment of \$0.83 million, which is equal to his compensation in the prior twelve months and benefits for 12 months if his employment is terminated without cause; and (ii) an estimated payment of \$1.66 million, which is equal to twice his compensation in the prior twelve months and benefits for 24 months in the event of a change in control of the Company and involuntary termination.

At the end of fiscal 2013, the Company did not have employment agreements with Messrs. Hadley, Frankenfield, Nicolelli or Kennedy.

The Company sponsors equity incentive compensation plans that provide the NEOs with additional compensation in connection with a termination of employment and/or change of control under the following circumstances.

#### Change in Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, (i) all option awards granted to a NEO which have not been exercised, which have not expired by their terms, or for which restrictions have not yet lapsed shall immediately be fully exercisable for the remainder of their respective terms and all restrictions shall lapse and conditions deemed satisfied, and (ii) the Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that such option awards be immediately terminated in which case the NEO will be paid an amount in cash (subject to any applicable withholding taxes) in respect of each option award equal to the difference between the fair market value of a share and the exercise price of such option award.

#### Death or Disability

Upon the NEO's death, any unexercised option award to the extent exercisable on the date of the NEO's death, may be exercised in whole or in part, at any time within one year after the NEO's death by a beneficiary or an estate. If a NEO becomes disabled, any unexercised option award to the extent exercisable at the date of such termination of employment due to disability, may be exercised in whole or in part, at any time within one year after the date of termination.

#### Termination without Cause

If the Company's terminates the NEO for any reason other than cause, death or disability, then any unexercised option award, to the extent exercisable at the date of such termination of employment, may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time within three months after such termination of employment; provided, however, that if the NEO dies within the three-month period following such termination of employment, the option award may be exercised by the deceased NEO's personal representative or by the person to whom the option award is transferred by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution within 180 days of the NEO's death, but in no event beyond the scheduled expiration of the option award.

#### Termination with Cause

Upon termination with cause, all unexercised awards terminate immediately.

#### Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Upon termination of employment, all amounts in the participant's account are paid to the participant.

# Potential Payments upon Termination of Employment or a Change in Control Table

The information in the table below summarizes the compensation that would be paid under plans and contractual arrangements in effect at August 31, 2013 to each of the NEOs in the event of termination of such executive's employment with the Company and/or change of control of the Company as of that date. The amounts assume that the listed officer left FactSet effective August 31, 2013 and that the price per share of FactSet common stock on that date was \$102.35. The amounts are based upon the difference between \$102.35 and the exercise price of the unvested award held by the NEO at August 31, 2013.

	Termination								
	Death or			Without	Termination			Change in	
Name of Officer	Disability			Cause		With Cause		Control (1)	
Philip A. Hadley	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	1,637,553	
Peter G. Walsh	\$	-	\$	830,000	\$	-	\$	9,723,391	
Michael D. Frankenfield	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	8,063,391	
Maurizio Nicolelli	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	474,988	
Kieran M. Kennedy	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	529,470	

(1) The Change in Control payout is applicable to (a) all option awards granted to Company employees which have not been exercised, which have not expired by their terms, or for which restrictions have not yet lapsed shall immediately be fully exercisable and (b) all stock awards granted to Company employees which have not vested or for which restrictions have not yet lapsed shall immediately be fully vested.

#### Proposal 3: Advisory Vote on the Fiscal 2013 Compensation of the Company's Named Executive Officers

As required by Section 14A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, FactSet is seeking an advisory, non-binding stockholder vote with respect to compensation awarded to its named executive officers.

As previously discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, FactSet designs its compensation programs to maintain a performance and achievement-oriented environment throughout the Company. FactSet's compensation programs are overseen by the Company's Compensation Committee and reflects its philosophy to pay all employees, including the named executive officers, in ways that support the following primary business objectives:

- Provide appropriate incentives for both individual and business performance.
- Link the long-term financial interests of key employees and FactSet's stockholders via stock-based incentives.
- Maintain executive compensation at levels relative with other members of senior management.
- Attract and retain talented personnel by considering compensation offered for similar positions by other companies in the technology and financial information industries.

#### Required Vote

FactSet is asking its stockholders to indicate their support for the compensation awarded to its named executive officers as described in this proxy statement. This proposal, commonly known as a "say-on-pay" proposal, gives the Company's stockholders the opportunity to express their views on FactSet's named executive officer compensation. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of the named executive officers and the philosophy, policies and practices described in this proxy statement. Accordingly, the Company asks its stockholders to vote "FOR" the following resolution at the meeting:

"RESOLVED, that the Company's stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the named executive officers, as disclosed in the Company's proxy statement for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to the compensation disclosure rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables and related notes and narrative."

The say-on-pay vote is advisory, and therefore not binding on the Company, the Compensation Committee, or its Board. The Company's Board and its Compensation Committee value the opinions of the stockholders and will take into account the outcome of this vote in considering future compensation arrangements.

FactSet's Board Recommends an Advisory Vote FOR the Fiscal 2013 Compensation of the Named Executive Officers as Disclosed in the Proxy Statement.

#### SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following tables set forth information known to FactSet with respect to beneficial ownership of the Company's common stock as of October 21, 2013 for (i) each director and nominee, (ii) each holder of 5.0% or greater of FactSet common stock, (iii) FactSet's Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and the three most highly compensated executive officers (other than the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer) named in the table entitled "Summary Compensation Table" and (iv) all executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community property laws, to FactSet's knowledge the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of FactSet common stock beneficially owned. The number of shares beneficially owned by each person or group as of October 21, 2013 includes shares of FactSet common stock that such person or group had the right to acquire on or within 60 days after October 21, 2013, including, but not limited to, upon the exercise of options or the vesting of restricted stock awards.

For each beneficial owner and individual included in the tables below, percentage ownership of common stock is calculated by dividing the number of shares beneficially owned by the 43,105,237 shares of FactSet common stock outstanding at October 21, 2013. Any securities that were not outstanding but subject to options exercisable within 60 days after October 21, 2013 were deemed to be outstanding in determining the percentage owned by such person, but were not deemed to be outstanding in determining the percentage owned by any other person.

# **Principal Holders**

The only persons known by the Company to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of FactSet's common stock are the following:

Name and Address of	Number of Shares Beneficially	Percentage of
Beneficial Owner*	Owned at October 21, 2013	Common Stock
T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc		
100 E Pratt Street		
Baltimore, MD 21202	6,220,994	14.4%
Baron Capital Group, Inc. (BAMCO)		
767 Fifth Avenue, 49th Floor		
New York, NY 10153	3,612,244	8.4%
Capital Research & Management Co. (Global Investors)		
11100 Santa Monica Boulevard, 15th Floor		
Los Angeles, CA 90025	2,874,200	6.7%
The Vanguard Group, Inc.		
100 Vanguard Boulevard		
Malvern, PA 19355	2,443,375	5.7%
BlackRock Fund Advisors		
400 Howard Street		
San Francisco, CA 94105	2,183,217	5.1%
Wells Fargo Advisors LLC		
1 North Jefferson Avenue		
St. Louis, MO 63103	2,182,168	5.1%

<sup>\*</sup> Number of shares beneficially owned was obtained from filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13(d), 13(f) or 13(g) of the Exchange Act.

#### **Directors and Named Executive Officers**

The table below sets forth, as of October 21, 2013, information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Company's common stock by (1) each Director and the named executive officers of the Company and (2) all Directors and Executive Officers of the Company as a group (13 persons).

	Number of Shares Beneficially	Percentage of	
Name (1)	Owned at October 21, 2013 (2)	Common Stock	
Charles J. Snyder (3)	2,024,445		4.7%
Philip A. Hadley (4)	1,072,198		2.5%
Peter G. Walsh (5)	103,575		**
Michael D. Frankenfield (6)	104,317		**
James J. McGonigle (7)	33,097		**
Walter F. Siebecker (8)	51,425		**
Joseph E. Laird, Jr. (9)	30,097		**
Scott A. Billeadeau (10)	25,647		**
Maurizio Nicolelli (11)	34,338		**
Kieran M. Kennedy (12)	13,708		**
Joseph R. Zimmel (13)	3,345		**
Michael F. DiChristina (14)	2,710		**
Robin A. Abrams (15)	1,051		**
All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (13 persons)	3,499,952		8.1%

<sup>\*\*</sup> Percentage of FactSet common stock is less than 1%.

- (1) The address for each of these beneficial owners is FactSet Research Systems Inc., 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851.
- (2) Beneficial ownership includes shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options exercisable within 60 days of October 21, 2013.
- (3) Includes 16,597 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options that are exercisable within 60 days of October 21, 2013, an additional 829,486 shares of Common Stock held directly by Mr. Snyder and 1,178,362 shares held indirectly as follows: 469,400 held in the Charles J. Snyder 2013 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust, 272,000 in the Charles J. Snyder 2012 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust and the remaining 436,962 shares held in the Susan J. Snyder 2013 Grantor Retained Annuity Trust.
- (4) Includes 121,701 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (5) Includes 68,315 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (6) Includes 55,434 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (7) Includes 30,097 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (8) Includes 25,597 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (9) Includes 30,097 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (10) Includes 25,597 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (11) Includes 30,479 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (12) Includes 6,719 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (13) Includes 3,345 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (14) Includes 2,710 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.
- (15) Includes 1,051 shares of FactSet common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options.

#### Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the Company's executive officers, directors and persons who own more than 10% of FactSet's common stock to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These persons are required to provide FactSet with copies of all Section 16(a) forms that they file. Based solely upon a review of Securities and Exchange Commission Forms 3, 4 and 5 furnished to the Company and written representations from the Company's executive officers and directors, the Company believes that those persons complied with all Section 16(a) filing requirements during fiscal 2013 with respect to transactions in the Company's stock with the following exceptions. Three Form 5s were filed on October 7, 2013 on behalf of three named executive officers, reflecting the purchase of FactSet common stock through the Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan for an aggregate number of 530 shares. All of these reports were filed within 45 days subsequent to the end of fiscal 2013 in order to aggregate the quarterly stock purchases onto one Form 5 filing for each named executive officer.

#### **EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION**

The following table summarizes as of August 31, 2013, the number of outstanding equity awards granted to employees and non-employee directors, as well as the number of equity awards remaining available for future issuance, under FactSet's equity compensation plans:

(In thousands, except per share data)

	(a)  Number of securities  to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options and restricted stock	(b) Weighted-average exercise price of	(c) Number of securities remaining available for future issuances under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in
Plan category	vesting	outstanding options	column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	5,087(1)	\$ 75.95(2)	3,344(3)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders	_	_	_
Total	5,087(1)	\$ 75.95(2)	3,344(3)

- (1) Includes shares of FactSet common stock subject to outstanding restricted stock that will entitle each holder to the issuance of one share of common stock as they vest.
- (2) Calculated without taking into account shares of FactSet common stock subject to outstanding restricted stock that will become issuable as they vest, without any cash consideration or other payment required for such shares.
- (3) Includes 119,770 shares available for future issuance under the FactSet Research Systems Inc. 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

#### CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The Board is committed to upholding the highest legal and ethical conduct in fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizes that related party transactions can present a heightened risk of potential or actual conflicts of interest. Accordingly, as a general matter, it is FactSet's preference to avoid related party transactions. FactSet's Audit Committee Charter requires that members of the Audit Committee, all of whom are independent directors, review and approve all related party transactions for which such approval is required under applicable law, including Securities and Exchange Commission, New York Stock Exchange and NASDAQ rules. For purposes of this section, "related person" and "transaction" have the meanings contained in Item 404 of Regulation S-K. Under these rules, a related person is a director, executive officer, nominee for director, or 5% stockholder of the company since the beginning of the last fiscal year and their immediate family members. The Company monitors any transaction or series of transactions in which the Company is a participant, the amount involved exceeds \$120,000, and a related person has a direct or indirect material interest. The Audit Committee would determine whether the related person has a material interest in a transaction and would approve, ratify, rescind, or take other action with respect to the transaction in its discretion. In accordance with listing requirements, the Company does not have relationships with any directors in which the director is compensated in excess of \$120,000, excluding fees for board service. In fiscal 2013, there were no related-person transactions under the relevant standards. In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and investigating any matters pertaining to the integrity of management, including conflicts of interest and adherence to FactSet's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Under the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, directors, officers and all other members of the workforce are expected to avoid any relationship, influence or activity that would cause or even appear to cause a conflict of interest. FactSet's Corporate Governance Principles require a director to promptly disclose to the Board any potential or actual conflict of interest involving him or her. Under the Principles, the Board will determine an appropriate resolution on a case-by-case basis. All directors must excuse themselves from any discussion or decision affecting their personal, business or professional interests. All related party transactions shall be disclosed in FactSet's applicable filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission as required under the applicable rules.

#### **OTHER MATTERS**

#### Proposal 4: Amendment to the Company's By-laws to Require Majority Voting for the Election of Directors

Over the past six years, nearly 80% of the companies in the S&P 500 Index have adopted a majority vote standard in company bylaws, articles of incorporation or charter. These companies have also adopted a director resignation policy that establishes a board-centered post-election process to determine the status of any director nominee that is not elected. This move to a majority vote standard is in direct response to strong shareholder demand for a meaningful role in director elections. FactSet has responded to this market change by recommending, in this proposal 4, an amendment to the Company's Bylaws to require majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections. However, for the 2013 Annual Meeting, the plurality vote standard remains in place as the proposed amendment requires majority approval by the stockholders.

#### What is the current voting requirement to elect each director?

The two nominees for election as directors of the Company who receive the highest number of "FOR" votes cast at the meeting (either in person or by proxy) will be elected as directors. This is referred to as "plurality" approval. If proposal 4 regarding the amendment to the Company's By-laws is approved at the 2013 annual meeting, then majority voting for the election of directors in uncontested elections will be followed in 2014. For example, beginning in 2014 each director will be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to such director. A majority of the votes cast means that the number of votes cast "for" a director exceeds the number of votes cast "against" that director.

#### Proposed Amendment by the Company's Board of Directors

With respect to the election of directors (proposal 1), on September 16, 2013 the Company's Board of Directors unanimously approved an amendment to FactSet's By-laws and proposed that such amendment be included in the Company's proxy for review and approval by stockholder vote at the 2013 Annual Meeting. The amendment would provide for a majority voting standard in uncontested elections of directors. An uncontested election of directors means an election of directors in which, at the expiration of the time fixed pursuant to the Company's By-laws requiring advance notice of director candidates, the number of candidates for election does not exceed the number of directors to be elected by the stockholders at that election. The amendment deleted the last sentence of Article III, Section 2 of the Company's By-laws in its entirety and would insert in its place the material set forth below:

"Except as otherwise required by statue or the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, in an uncontested election, each director will be elected by a vote of the majority of the votes cast. A majority of votes cast means the number of shares cast "for" a director's election exceeds the number of votes cast "against" that director. We will not treat as cast any share (a) whose ballot is marked as withheld, (b) that is otherwise present at the meeting but for which there is an abstention, or (c) a share otherwise present at the meeting as to which a stockholder gives no authority or direction. In a contested election, the directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast, meaning the directors receiving the largest number of "for" votes will be elected to the open positions. A contested election is one in which: (i) as of the last day for giving notice of a stockholder nominee, a stockholder has nominated a candidate for director according to the requirements of our Bylaws, and (ii) as of the date that notice of the meeting is given, the Board of Directors considers that a stockholder candidacy has created a bona fide election contest.

In an uncontested election, a nominee who does not receive a majority vote will not be elected. Except as set forth below, an incumbent director who is not elected because he or she does not receive a majority vote will continue to serve as a holdover director until the earliest of: (a) ninety (90) days after the date on which the election inspector determines the voting results as to that director; (b) the date on which the Board of Directors appoints an individual to fill the office held by that director; or (c) the date of that director's resignation. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy resulting from the non-election of a director as provided in these By-Laws. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider promptly whether to fill the office of a nominee who fails to receive a majority vote and make a recommendation to the Board about filling the office. The Board of Directors will act on the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and within ninety (90) days after certification of the stockholder vote will disclose publicly its decision.

Any nominee for Director in an uncontested election who receives either (x) a greater number of votes "withheld" from his or her election than votes "for" such election, or (y) a greater number of votes "withheld" and "against" from his or her election in the aggregate than votes "for" such election, shall submit his or her offer of resignation for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee within ninety (90) days from the date of the election. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall consider all of the relevant facts and circumstances and recommend to the Board the action to be taken with respect to such offer of resignation in determining whether to accept such offer."

#### Required Approval to Amend the By-laws

Amending the Company's By-laws requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the Company's outstanding shares. If proposal 4 is approved, then FactSet will adopt the majority voting standard in an uncontested election of directors and that standard will apply to future uncontested elections of directors.

#### FactSet's Board Recommends a Vote FOR the Amendment to the Company's By-Laws Requiring Majority Voting for the Election of Directors

#### **Proposals of Stockholders**

Proposals of stockholders intended to be presented at the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders must be received by FactSet, attention of Ms. Rachel R. Stern, the Company's Secretary, at its principal executive offices, no later than August 1, 2014, or such other date as determined with reference to the Company's By-laws, as amended, as applicable, to be included in the 2014 Proxy Statement.

#### **Delivery of Documents to Stockholders Sharing an Address**

If you are a beneficial owner, but not the record holder, of Company shares, your broker, bank or other nominee may deliver only one copy of the Company's Proxy Statement and Annual Report to multiple stockholders who share an address unless that nominee has received contrary instructions from one or more of the stockholders. The Company will deliver promptly, upon written or oral request, a separate copy of the Proxy Statement and Annual Report to a stockholder at a shared address to which a single copy of the documents were delivered. A stockholder who wishes to receive a separate copy of the Proxy Statement and Annual Report, now or in the future, should submit their request to the Company's Investor Relations Department at 1-203-810-1000 or by submitting a written request to Ms. Rachel R. Stern, Secretary, 601 Merritt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851. Beneficial owners sharing an address who are receiving multiple copies of proxy materials and Annual Reports and wish to receive a single copy of such materials in the future will need to contact your broker, bank or other nominee to request that only a single copy of each document be mailed to all stockholders at the shared address in the future.

#### **Other Business**

The Board does not intend to bring any other business before the Meeting and so far as is known to the Board, no matters are to be brought before the Meeting except as specified in the notice of the Meeting. However, as to any other business, which may properly come before the Meeting, it is intended that proxies, in the form enclosed, will be voted in respect thereof in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting such proxies.

Rachel R. Stern

Senior Vice President, Strategic Resources, General Counsel and Secretary Norwalk, Connecticut

October 30, 2013



IMPORTANT ANNUAL MEETING INFORMATION

# Electronic Voting Instructions

Available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week!

Instead of mailing your proxy, you may choose one of the voting methods outlined below to vote your proxy.

VALIDATION DETAILS ARE LOCATED BELOW IN THE TITLE BAR.

Proxies submitted by the Internet or telephone must be received by 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on December 16, 2013.



# Vote by Internet

- Go to www.envisionreports.com/FDS
- . Or scan the QR code with your smartphone
- Follow the steps outlined on the secure website

#### Vote by telephone

- Call toll free 1-800-652-VOTE (8683) within the USA, US territories & Canada on a touch tone telephone
- · Follow the instructions provided by the recorded message

Using a <u>black link</u> pen, mark your votes with an X as shown in this example. Please do not write outside the designated areas.



Annual Meet	ting Proxy Card				
▼ IF YOU HAVE NOT V	OTED VIA THE INTERNET <u>or</u> tel	EPHONE, FOLD ALO	NG THE PERFORATION, DETACH A	AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION	IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE.
	THE BOARD OF DIRECTO			HE ELECTION OF THE TWO N	IOMINEES IN
			SET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC., E.	ACH FOR A THREE-YEAR TERM.	+
	01 - Joseph E. Laird, Jr.	02 - James	J. McGonigle		
Mark here t	to vote Mark here	to WITHHOLD	For All EXCEPT - To withhole	d authority to vote for any	

	PROPO	SAL 1, FC	OR PROPOSALS	5 2, 3	and 4.						
1. TO E	LECT TWO (2) MEMBER	STOTHER	OARD OF DIRECTO	RSOF	FACTSET	RESEARC	CH SYSTEMS INC., EACH FOR A THE	REE-YEAR TERM.			+
	01-J	Joseph E. Lai	ird, Jr.	02-3	James J. N	McGonigle					
	Mark here to vote FOR all nominees		Mark here to WITH vote from all nom				EXCEPT - To withhold authority to vot se(s), write the name(s) of such nomine				
				For	Against	t Abstain		-	For	Against	Absta
OF B	ATIFY THE APPOINTMEN' RNST & YOUNG LLP AS T ISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUN	THE INDEPE	ENDENT				3. TO APPROVE, BY NON-BINDIN OF THE COMPANY'S NAMED	ING VOTE, THE COMPENSATION EXECUTIVE OFFICERS.			
TORE	PPROVE AN AMENDMENT EQUIR E MAJORITY VOTIN CTORS IN UNCONTESTE	ING FOR THE	E ELECTION OF				To act upon such other business adjournment or postponement of	s as may properly come before the f the Annual Meeting.	Annual	Meeting or	any
B N	on-Voting Items										
Change	e of Address — Please pr	int new addr	ress below.				Comments — Please print your co	mments below.			
NOTE: P	-	ears here on.	. Joint owners should	each sig	ign. When	signing as	vote to be counted. — Date a attorney, executor, administrator, trust-				
Date (mi	лиодуууу) — невзе ртп	I date below	4-	1	nature 1 -	- Mease Ke	ep signature within the box.	Signature 2 — Prease keep signa	iture with	in the box	- 7
	/	/									

1UPX

+

01PXGB

Important notice regarding the Internet availability of proxy materials for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

The Proxy Statement and the 2013 Annual Report to Stockholders are available at:

www.envisionreports.com/FDS

▼ IF YOU HAVE NOT VOTED VIA THE INTERNET OR TELEPHONE, FOLD ALONG THE PERFORATION, DETACH AND RETURN THE BOTTOM PORTION IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. ▼



Proxy — FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.

# PROXY FOR THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS DECEMBER 17, 2013 THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF FACTSET RESEARCH SYSTEMS INC.

You here by appoint the Secretary of FactSet Research Systems Inc. with full power of substitution, as your attorneys and proxies to vote the shares of Common Stock of FactSet Research Systems Inc., which you are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company to be held at 601 Me mitt 7, Norwalk, Connecticut 06851, on December 17, 2013, at 3:00 p.m. Eastern Standard time and at any adjournments and postponements of the Annual Meeting, with all the power you would possess if personally present, as indicated on the reverse side.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner you direct in this proxy. If you make no direction, this proxy will be voted FOR the election of the two nominees listed in proposal 1 and FOR proposals 2, 3 and 4. You authorize the proxy holders, in their discretion, to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournments or postponements of the Annual Meeting to the extent authorized by Rule 14a-4(c) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(Continued and to be marked, dated and signed, on the other side)